
City of Capitola Page 1 Updated 4/27/2018 2:13 PM  

 

AGENDA 

CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION 
Thursday, May 3, 2018 – 7:00 PM 

 Chairperson Sam Storey 

 Commissioners Linda Smith 

  Ed Newman 

  TJ Welch 

  Susan Westman 

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

B. Public Comments 

Short communications from the public concerning matters not on the Agenda.  
All speakers are requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium so that their 
name may be accurately recorded in the Minutes. 

C. Commission Comments 

D. Staff Comments 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. Planning Commission - Regular Meeting - Apr 5, 2018 7:00 PM 
 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All matters listed under “Consent Calendar” are considered by the Planning Commission to be routine 
and will be enacted by one motion in the form listed below.  There will be no separate discussion on these 
items prior to the time the Planning Commission votes on the action unless members of the public or the 
Planning Commission request specific items to be discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for 
separate discussion will be considered in the order listed on the Agenda. 

 
A. 110 Capitola Avenue Suite 1 #18-128 APN: 035-185-25 

Sign Permit for a new sign for Mia Bella Adonic, a new boutique located within the C-V 
(Central Village) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: GI 110 Capitola Ave, LLC 
Representative: Kayla & Dee Dee Wilson, Filed: 03.23.2018  

 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Public Hearings are intended to provide an opportunity for public discussion of each item listed as a 
Public Hearing.  The following procedure is as follows:  1) Staff Presentation; 2) Public Discussion; 3) 
Planning Commission Comments; 4) Close public portion of the Hearing; 5) Planning Commission 
Discussion; and 6) Decision. 

 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – May 3, 2018 2 
 
A. 1350 49th Avenue #18-0050 APN: 034-068-14 

Design Permit for a 670-square foot addition to an existing single-family residence with a 
variance for an encroachment into the side yard setback located at 1350 49th Avenue 
within the R-1 (Single-Family) zoning district.   
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit 
which is appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible 
appeals are exhausted through the City. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Rick Aberle 
Representative: Stephen Lang, Filed: 01.26.2018  

 
B. 318 Riverview Avenue #18-0045 APN: 035-172-18 

Design Permit for demolition of an existing two-story single-family residence and 
construction of a new three-story single-family residence which includes a 
variance request for parking standards and open space located within the C-V 
(Central Village) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit 
which is appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible 
appeals are exhausted through the City. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: JDT Capital LLC 
Representative: Derek Van Alstine, Filed: 01.24.2018 

 
C. 2205 Wharf Road #18-0108 APN: 034-141-34 

Minor land division to create two lots of record and design permit for a new single-family 
residence for the property located at 2205 Wharf Road in the RM-LM (Residential Multi-
Family – Low-Medium Density) Zoning District.   
This project is not in the Coastal Zone and does not require a Coastal Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Christopher Wright 
Representative: Dennis Norton, Filed: 03.07.2018 

 

6. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 

1. Retail Marijuana Sales in Regional Commercial Zoning District   
Future amendment to the Capitola Zoning Code (Municipal Code Chapter 17) to allow retail 
cannabis sales within the Regional Commercial Zoning District with a Conditional Use 
Permit.  
The Regional Commercial Zoning District is outside the Coastal Zone and therefore is not 
subject to Local Coastal Program Certification by the Coastal Commission. 
Environmental Determination: Exempt 
Property: All property within the Regional Commercial Zone within the City of Capitola 
Representative: Katie Herlihy, Community Development Director, City of Capitola 

 

7. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 

8. ADJOURNMENT 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – May 3, 2018 3 
 

 

APPEALS:  The following decisions of the Planning Commission can be appealed to the City Council 

within the (10) calendar days following the date of the Commission action:  Conditional Use Permit, 

Variance, and Coastal Permit.  The decision of the Planning Commission pertaining to an Architectural 

and Site Review Design Permit can be appealed to the City Council within the (10) working days following 

the date of the Commission action.  If the tenth day falls on a weekend or holiday, the appeal period is 

extended to the next business day. 
 

All appeals must be in writing, setting forth the nature of the action and the basis upon which the action is 

considered to be in error, and addressed to the City Council in care of the City Clerk.  An appeal must be 

accompanied by a five hundred dollar ($500) filing fee, unless the item involves a Coastal Permit that is 

appealable to the Coastal Commission, in which case there is no fee.  If you challenge a decision of the 

Planning Commission in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or someone else 

raised at the public hearing described in this agenda, or in written correspondence delivered to the City 

at, or prior to, the public hearing. 
 

Notice regarding Planning Commission meetings:  The Planning Commission meets regularly on the 

1st Thursday of each month at 7 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 Capitola Avenue, 

Capitola. 
 

Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials:  The Planning Commission Agenda and complete Agenda 

Packet are available on the Internet at the City's website:  www.cityofcapitola.org.  Agendas are also 

available at the Capitola Branch Library, 2005 Wharf Road, Capitola, on the Monday prior to the Thursday 

meeting.  Need more information?  Contact the Community Development Department at (831) 475-7300. 
 

Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet:  Materials that are a public 

record under Government Code § 54957.5(A) and that relate to an agenda item of a regular meeting of 

the Planning Commission that are distributed to a majority of all the members of the Planning 

Commission more than 72 hours prior to that meeting shall be available for public inspection at City Hall 

located at 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, during normal business hours. 
 

Americans with Disabilities Act:  Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons with 

a disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 

1990.  Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting in 

the City Council Chambers.  Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting 

due to a disability, please contact the Community Development Department at least 24 hours in advance 

of the meeting at (831) 475-7300.  In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental 

sensitivities, attendees are requested to refrain from wearing perfumes and other scented products. 
 

Televised Meetings:  Planning Commission meetings are cablecast "Live" on Charter Communications 

Cable TV Channel 8 and are recorded to be replayed on the following Monday and Friday at 1:00 p.m. on 

Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25.  Meetings can also be viewed from the City's website:  

www.cityofcapitola.org. 

http://www.cityofcapitola.org/
http://www.cityofcapitola.org/


City of Capitola Page 1 Updated 4/6/2018 5:06 PM  

FINAL MINUTES 
CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

Thursday, April 5, 2018 
7 P.M. – CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 

 
 

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

All Commissioners were in attendance. 

2. NEW BUSINESS 

None. 

3. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

None. 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

None. 

B. Public Comments 

None. 

C. Commission Comments 

Chairperson Storey announced that Community Development Director Grunow was moving on 
the City of Coronado at the end of the month after five years with the City of Capitola. He thanked 
Director Grunow. Chairperson Storey also announced that Senior Planner  Katie Herlihy will be 
taking over role of Community Development Director. 
Commissioner Welch expressed his appreciation to Director Grunow for his work with the City of 
Capitola. 
Commissioner Smith added her welcome to Senior Planner Herlihy. 
Commissioner Westman will hold her comments until later. 

D. Staff Comments 

Director Grunow: Thank you for the kind words and to express gratitude to each of the Planning 
Commissioners. Katie will do a great job and keep the continuity. 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

A. Approval of draft March 1, 2018, Planning Commission minutes 

1. Planning Commission - Regular Meeting - Mar 1, 2018 7:00 PM 
 

Commissioner Westman abstain due to absence at meeting. 
Moved by Commissioner Smith, seconded by Commissioner Welch 

3.1

Packet Pg. 4

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

5,
 2

01
8 

7:
00

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – April 5, 2018 2 
 

RESULT: ACCEPTED [4 TO 0] 

MOVER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

SECONDER: TJ Welch, Chairperson 

AYES: Smith, Newman, Welch, Storey 

ABSTAIN: Westman 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR 

A. 110 Hollister Avenue #18-0085 APN: 036-144-10 
Design Permit to demolish an existing, one-story single-family residence and construct a 
new two-story single-family residence in the R-1 Single-Family Zoning District.   
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit that is 
appealable to the California Coastal Commission.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Lisa and Mark Garrigues 
Representative: Clark E Shultes 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of demolition of the existing home and construction of a 

new 2,152-square-foot single-family residence. The maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 
4,000-square-foot property is 54% (2,160 square feet).  The total FAR of the project is 54% 
with a total of 2,154 square feet, compliant with the maximum FAR within the zone. The 
proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by the 
Planning Commission on April 5, 2018, except as modified through conditions imposed by 
the Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be consistent 
with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and site 
improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM 
shall be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans.  All 
construction shall be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP 
STRM.   
 

5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 
requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.   
 

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and approved 
by the Community Development Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect the Planning 
Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species and details of 
irrigation systems.   
 

7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #18-0085 shall 
be paid in full. 
 

3.1

Packet Pg. 5

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

5,
 2

01
8 

7:
00

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – April 5, 2018 3 
 
8. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as required 

to assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing Ordinance.   
 

9. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel Creek 
Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.   
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans shall 
be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 13.16 
Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements all 
applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard Details, 
including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

12. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 
official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 

13. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed in 
the road right-of-way. 
 

14. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty a.m. 
on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of 
Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work approved by the 
building official. §9.12.010B 
 

15. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or 
sidewalk shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction of 
the Public Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or sidewalk 
shall meet current Accessibility Standards. 
    

16. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 
approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director.  
Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code 
provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the 
Community Development Director or shall file an application for a permit amendment for 
Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-compliance in a timely 
manner may result in permit revocation. 
 

17. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit 
expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration 
pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

18. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site 
on which the approval was granted. 

3.1

Packet Pg. 6

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

5,
 2

01
8 

7:
00

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – April 5, 2018 4 
 

 
19. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 

placed out of public view on non-collection days.  
 

20. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the existing 
overhead utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole.   
 

Senior Planner Herlihy provided the presentation. 
Chairperson Storey and Commissioner Welch recused themselves due to proximity and the 
meeting was turned over to Vice Chair Westman . 
Moved by Newman, seconded by Smith with a comment by Commissioner to staff. 

RESULT: APPROVED [3 TO 0] 

MOVER: Edward Newman, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

AYES: Smith, Newman, Westman 

RECUSED: Welch, Storey 

6. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. 1098 38th Avenue #18-0052 APN: 034-172-01 
Fence exception to permit a six-foot high fence in the front yard along the side property line 
and an eight-foot high solid fence on the side property line extending to the rear property 
line. This project is located in the RM-M (Multi-Family Medium Density) zoning district. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone and does not require a Coastal Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Central California Alliance for Health 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of a new fence on the north and south property lines of 1098 

38th Avenue.  The fence on the north property line may extend 30-inches in height for the 
first 30-feet, then extend to six feet of height to the front façade of the main building, and 
then extend 8-feet in height, with no required lattice, to the rear property line.  Along the 
south property line, the fence may extend 42-inches in height to the front façade of the first 
mobile home on the adjacent property, then extend to six feet of height to the front façade 
of the main building on 1098 38th Avenue, and then extend to 8-feet in height, with no 
required lattice, to the rear property line.  A fence permit with an exception to the height and 
material requirements has been approved within this application.   
 

2. Compliance with all conditions of approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the 

Community Development Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of 

approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-

compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an 

application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to 

remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 

3. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #18-052 shall 
be paid in full. 
 

4. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have an 

construction underway before this date to prevent permit expiration.   Applications for 

extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration pursuant to Municipal Code 

section 17.81.160. 

3.1

Packet Pg. 7

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

5,
 2

01
8 

7:
00

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – April 5, 2018 5 
 
5. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 

underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 

applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site 

on which the approval was granted. 

FINDINGS 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, and the Planning Commission have all reviewed the 
proposed fence exceptions.  The fence conforms to the requirements of the Local Coastal 
Program and conditions of approval have been included to carry out the objectives of the 
Zoning Ordinance, General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 
 

B.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15304 of the California    
Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California 
Code of Regulations. 
Section 15304 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts minor alterations to land.  No adverse 
environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project. 
 

Senior Planner Herlihy gave the presentation. 
Commissioner Newman recused himself and left the dais due to a financial relationship with 
the applicant . 
Christopher ____, spoke on behalf of the representative of _____ for the Central California 
Alliance for Health. 
Commissioner Welch had no real issues with the staff recommendation. 
Commissioners Westman and Smith supported the staff recommendation. 
Motion by Commissioner Smith, second by Commissioner Westman. 

RESULT: APPROVED [4 TO 0] 

MOVER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Susan Westman, Commissioner 

AYES: Smith, Welch, Westman, Storey 

RECUSED: Newman 

B. 1725 48th Avenue #17-0403 APN: 034-022-41 
Design Permit and Conditional Use Permit to convert an existing historic barn into an 
Accessory Dwelling Unit and build a new single car garage in the R-1 (Single-Family 
Residential) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit that is not 
appealable to the California Coastal Commission. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Michael and Elizabeth Adams 
Representative: Dennis Norton Filed: 10/10/17 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of the conversion of an existing historic barn into an 

Accessory Dwelling Unit and construction of a new single-car garage. The maximum Floor 
Area Ratio for the 8,000 square foot property is 60% (4,800 square feet) with the addition of 
the accessory dwelling unit.  The total FAR of the project is 45% with a total of 3,631 
square feet, compliant with the maximum FAR within the zone. The staircase and lodge will 
be removed to comply with the secondary dwelling unit single story limit and 540 square 
feet maximum floor area. The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans 
reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on April 5, 2018, except as modified 
through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 

3.1

Packet Pg. 8

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

5,
 2

01
8 

7:
00

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – April 5, 2018 6 
 

 
2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 

modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be consistent 
with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and site 
improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM 
shall be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans.  All 
construction shall be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP 
STRM.   
 

5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 
requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.   
 

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and approved 
by the Community Development Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect the Planning 
Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species and details of 
irrigation systems.   
 

7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #17-0403 shall 
be paid in full. 
 

8. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel Creek 
Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.   
 

9. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans shall 
be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 13.16 
Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements all 
applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard Details, 
including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

11. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 
official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 

12. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed in 
the road right-of-way. 
 

13. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty a.m. 
on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of 

3.1

Packet Pg. 9

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

5,
 2

01
8 

7:
00

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – April 5, 2018 7 
 

Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work approved by the 
building official. §9.12.010B 
 

14. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or 
sidewalk shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction of 
the Public Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or sidewalk 
shall meet current Accessibility Standards. 
    

15. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 
approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director.  
Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code 
provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the 
Community Development Director or shall file an application for a permit amendment for 
Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-compliance in a timely 
manner may result in permit revocation. 
 

16. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.  The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit 
expiration.  Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration 
pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

17. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site 
on which the approval was granted. 
 

18. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
placed out of public view on non-collection days.  
 

19. The floor area for secondary dwelling unit shall not exceed 580 square feet as approved 
by the Planning Commission.  
 

20. At time of submittal for building permit review, a water will serve letter for the second 
dwelling unit must be submitted to the City. 
 

21. Before obtaining a building permit for a secondary dwelling unit, the property owner shall 
file with the county recorder a declaration of restrictions containing a reference to the deed 
under which the property was acquired by the present owner and stating that: 
 

a. The secondary dwelling unit shall not be sold separately; 
b. The unit is restricted to the approved size; 
c. The administrative review or the design permit, whichever applies, for the secondary 

dwelling unit shall be in effect only so long as the owner of record occupies either the main 
residence or the secondary dwelling unit; 

d. The above declarations are binding upon any successor in ownership of the property. 
Lack of compliance shall be cause for code enforcement and/or revoking the administrative 
review or the architecture and site review permit, whichever applies; 

e. The deed restrictions shall lapse upon removal of the secondary dwelling unit. 
 

22. Secretary of the Interior’s Standards and Guidelines for preservation, rehabilitation, 
restoration, or reconstruction shall be followed. 

a. Any removal of existing building materials or features on historic buildings shall be 
approved by the Community Development Department prior to removal. 

3.1

Packet Pg. 10

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

5,
 2

01
8 

7:
00

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)

http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.246
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.110
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.527
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – April 5, 2018 8 
 
b. The applicant and/or contractor shall field verify all existing conditions on historic 

buildings and match replacement elements and materials according to the approved plans.  
Any discrepancies found between approved plans, replacement features and existing 
elements must be reported to the Community Development Department for further 
direction, prior to construction. 

 
FINDINGS 

A. The project, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The proposed conversion of an 
existing historic barn into an Accessory Dwelling Unit and construction of a new single-car 
garage complies with the development standards of the R-1 (Single-Family) District.  
Specifically, all of the requirements of Capitola Municipal Code §17.99.050 have been met.  
The project secures the purpose of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal 
Plan 
 

B. The project will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the application for the conversion of an existing 
historic barn into an Accessory Dwelling Unit and construction of a new single-car garage.  
The design of the garage, with its bead board siding and composite shingle roof, will fit in 
nicely with the historic house and barn and the existing neighborhood. The project will 
maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.   
 

C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(e) of the California 
Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California 
Code of Regulations. 
Section 15303(e) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts accessory structures including garages. 
This project involves the conversion of an existing historic barn into an Accessory Dwelling 
Unit and construction of a new single-car garage within the R-1 (Single-Family) zoning 
district. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed 
project.  
 

Coastal Findings 
D. Findings Required 

1. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of specific written factual 
findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed development conforms to the 
certified Local Coastal Program, including, but not limited to: 

a. A statement of the individual and cumulative burdens imposed on public access and 
recreation opportunities based on applicable factors identified pursuant to subsection (D)(2) 
of this section. The type of affected public access and recreation opportunities shall be 
clearly described; 

b. An analysis based on applicable factors identified in subsection (D)(2) of this section of the 
necessity for requiring public access conditions to find the project consistent with the public 
access provisions of the Coastal Act; 

c. A description of the legitimate governmental interest furthered by any access conditioned 
required; 

d. An explanation of how imposition of an access dedication requirement alleviates the access 
burdens identified. 

• The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local Coastal Plan (LCP).  The 
specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 17.46.090(D) are as follows: 
 

3.1

Packet Pg. 11

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

5,
 2

01
8 

7:
00

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – April 5, 2018 9 
 
2. Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for public access, 

including the type of access and character of use, the city shall evaluate and 
document in written findings the factors identified in subsections (D)(2)(a) through 
(e), to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the basis for the conclusions 
and decisions of the city and shall be supported by substantial evidence in the 
record. If an access dedication is required as a condition of approval, the findings 
shall explain how the adverse effects which have been identified will be alleviated or 
mitigated by the dedication. As used in this section, “cumulative effect” means the 
effect of the individual project in combination with the effects of past projects, other 
current projects, and probable future projects, including development allowed under 
applicable planning and zoning. 

a. Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of existing and open 
public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in the regional and local vicinity of 
the development. Analysis of the project’s effects upon existing public access and 
recreation opportunities. Analysis of the project’s cumulative effects upon the use and 
capacity of the identified access and recreation opportunities, including public tidelands and 
beach resources, and upon the capacity of major coastal roads from subdivision, 
intensification or cumulative buildout. Projection for the anticipated demand and need for 
increased coastal access and recreation opportunities for the public. Analysis of the 
contribution of the project’s cumulative effects to any such projected increase. Description 
of the physical characteristics of the site and its proximity to the sea, tideland viewing 
points, upland recreation areas, and trail linkages to tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis 
of the importance and potential of the site, because of its location or other characteristics, 
for creating, preserving or enhancing public access to tidelands or public recreation 
opportunities; 
 

• The proposed project is located at 1725 48th Avenue.  The home is not located in an area 
with coastal access.  The home will not have an effect on public trails or beach access. 
 

b. Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, including beach 
profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, history of erosion or accretion, character 
and sources of sand, wave and sand movement, presence of shoreline 
protective structures, location of the line of mean high tide during the season when the 
beach is at its narrowest (generally during the late winter) and the proximity of that line to 
existing structures, and any other factors which substantially characterize or affect the 
shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline processes 
at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline processes and beach profile 
unrelated to the proposed development. Description and analysis of any reasonably likely 
changes, attributable to the primary and cumulative effects of the project, to: wave and 
sand movement affecting beaches in the vicinity of the project; the profile of the beach; the 
character, extent, accessibility and usability of the beach; and any other factors which 
characterize or affect beaches in the vicinity. Analysis of the effect of any identified 
changes of the project, alone or in combination with other anticipated changes, will have 
upon the ability of the public to use public tidelands and shoreline recreation areas; 
 

• The proposed project is located along 48th Avenue.  No portion of the project is located 
along the shoreline or beach. 
 

c. Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the general public for a 
continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). Evidence of the type and 
character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, blufftop, etc., and for passive and/or 
active recreational use, etc.). Identification of any agency (or person) who has maintained 
and/or improved the area subject to historic public use and the nature of the maintenance 

3.1

Packet Pg. 12

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

5,
 2

01
8 

7:
00

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – April 5, 2018 10 
 

performed and improvements made. Identification of the record owner of the area 
historically used by the public and any attempts by the owner to prohibit public use of the 
area, including the success or failure of those attempts. Description of the potential for 
adverse impact on public use of the area from the proposed development (including but not 
limited to, creation of physical or psychological impediments to public use); 
 

• There is not a history of public use on the subject lot. 
 

d. Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the development 
which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, public 
recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to see the shoreline; 
 

• The proposed project is located on private property on 48th Avenue.  The project will not 
block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, public recreation 
areas, or views to the shoreline. 
 

e. Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the development’s 
physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any public recreation area. Analysis 
of the extent of which buildings, walls, signs, streets or other aspects of the development, 
individually or cumulatively, are likely to diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands 
committed to public recreation. Description of any alteration of the aesthetic, visual or 
recreational value of public use areas, and of any diminution of the quality or amount of 
recreational use of public lands which may be attributable to the individual or cumulative 
effects of the development. 
 

• The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact access and 
recreation.  The project does not diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands committed 
to public recreation nor alter the aesthetic, visual, or recreational value of public use areas. 
 

3. Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination that one of the 
exceptions of subsection (F)(2) applies to a development shall be supported by 
written findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all of the following: 

a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, lateral, bluff top, etc.) 
and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource to be protected, the 
agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military facility which is the basis for the 
exception, as applicable; 

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, intensity, hours, 
season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, fragile coastal resources, 
public safety, or military security, as applicable, are protected; 

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same area of public 
tidelands as would be made accessible by an accessway on the subject land. 
 

• The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore these findings do not 
apply. 
 

4. Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in support of a condition 
requiring a management plan for regulating the time and manner or character of 
public access use must address the following factors, as applicable: 

a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the reasons supporting the 
conclusions that such values must be protected by limiting the hours, seasons, or character 
of public use; 
 

• The project is located in a residential area without sensitive habitat areas. 

3.1

Packet Pg. 13

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

5,
 2

01
8 

7:
00

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.090
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.110
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.620
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.093
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – April 5, 2018 11 
 

 
b. Topographic constraints of the development site; 

 

• The project is located on a flat lot. 
 

c. Recreational needs of the public; 
 

• The project does not impact the recreational needs of the public. 
 

d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting the project back 
from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development; 

e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of dedication is the 
mechanism for securing public access; 

f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods as part of a 
management plan to regulate public use. 
 

5. Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of appropriate 
legal documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, and as, required by 
the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal access requirements); 
 

• No legal documents to ensure public access rights are required for the proposed project. 
 

6. Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies; 
 
SEC. 30222 
The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational facilities 
designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall have priority 
over private residential, general industrial, or general commercial development, but 
not over agriculture or coastal-dependent industry. 
 

• The project involves the conversion of an existing historic barn into an Accessory Dwelling 
Unit and construction of a new single-car garage on a residential lot of record. 
 
SEC. 30223 
Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved for 
such uses, where feasible. 
 

• The project involves the conversion of an existing historic barn into an Accessory Dwelling 
Unit and construction of a new single-car garage on a residential lot of record. 
 
c) Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed 
areas shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of 
attraction for visitors. 
 

• The project involves the conversion of an existing historic barn into an Accessory Dwelling 
Unit and construction of a new single-car garage on a residential lot of record. 
 

7. Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for provision of public 
and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of transportation and/or 
traffic improvements; 
 

3.1

Packet Pg. 14

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

5,
 2

01
8 

7:
00

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/html/Capitola17/Capitola1746.html#17.46.010
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – April 5, 2018 12 
 
• The project involves the conversion of an existing historic barn into an Accessory Dwelling 

Unit and construction of a new single-car garage on a residential lot of record.  The project 
complies with applicable standards and requirements for provision for parking, pedestrian 
access, alternate means of transportation, and/or traffic improvements. 
 

8. Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by the city’s 
architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted design 
guidelines and standards, and review committee recommendations; 
 

• The project complies with the design guidelines and standards established by the Municipal 
Code. 
 

9. Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public landmarks, 
protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or detract from public 
views to and along Capitola’s shoreline; 
 

• The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public views. The project will 
not block or detract from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline. 
 

10. Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services; 
 

• The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and sewer services. 
 

11. Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times; 
 

• The project is located a short distance from the Capitola fire department. Water is available 
at the location. 
 

12. Project complies with water and energy conservation standards; 
 

• The project is for the conversion of an existing historic barn into an Accessory Dwelling Unit 
and construction of a new single-car garage on a residential lot of record.  The GHG 
emissions for the project are projected at less than significant impact. All water fixtures 
must comply with the low-flow standards of the Soquel Creek Water District. 
 

13. Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be required; 
 

• The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building permit issuance. 
 

14. Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances including 
condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances; 
 

• The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes. 
 

15. Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological protection 
policies; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with established policies. 
 

16. Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies; 
 

3.1

Packet Pg. 15

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

5,
 2

01
8 

7:
00

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.090


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – April 5, 2018 13 
 
• The project is outside of any identified sensitive habitats, specifically areas where Monarch 

Butterflies have been encountered, identified and documented. 
 

17. Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect marine, 
stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with applicable erosion 
control measures. 
 

18. Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professional for 
projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal bluffs, and project 
complies with hazard protection policies including provision of appropriate setbacks 
and mitigation measures; 
 

• The project is not located in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal bluffs.  
Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project applicant shall comply with 
all applicable requirements of the most recent version of the California Building Standards 
Code. 
 

19. All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and mitigated in the 
project design; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project complies with geological, 
flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for and will be mitigated in the project design. 
 

20. Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 
 

• The proposed project is not located along a shoreline. 
 

21. The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses of the 
zoning district in which the project is located; 
 

• This use is an allowed use consistent with the Single-Family zoning district. 
 

22. Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning requirements, and 
project review procedures; and 
 

• The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning requirements, and 
project development review and development procedures. 
 

23. Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows: 
a. The village area preferential parking program areas and conditions as established in 

Resolution No. 2596 and no permit parking of any kind shall be allowed on Capitola 
Avenue. 

b. The neighborhood preferential parking program areas are as established in Resolution 
Numbers 2433 and 2510. 

c. The village area preferential parking program shall be limited to three hundred fifty permits. 
d. Neighborhood permit areas are only in force when the shuttle bus is operating except that: 
i. The Fanmar area (Resolution No. 2436) program may operate year-round, twenty-four 

hours a day on weekends, 
ii. The Burlingame, Cliff Avenue/Grand Avenue area (Resolution No. 2435) have year-round, 

twenty-four hour per day “no public parking.” 

3.1

Packet Pg. 16

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

5,
 2

01
8 

7:
00

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.093
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – April 5, 2018 14 
 
e. Except as specifically allowed under the village parking program, no preferential residential 

parking may be allowed in the Cliff Drive parking areas. 
f. Six Depot Hill twenty-four minute “Vista” parking spaces (Resolution No. 2510) shall be 

provided as corrected in Exhibit A attached to the ordinance codified in this section and 
found on file in the office of the city clerk. 

g. A limit of fifty permits for the Pacific Cove parking lot may be issued to village permit 
holders and transient occupancy permit holders. 

h. No additional development in the village that intensifies use and requires additional parking 
shall be permitted. Changes in use that do not result in additional parking demand can be 
allowed and exceptions for onsite parking as allowed in the land use plan can be made. 
 

• The project site is not located within the area of the Capitola parking permit program. 
 

Assistant Planner Orbach gave the presentation. 
Commission Newman requested clarification on the loft shown on the plans. 
Chairperson Storey asked why plans show numerous new windows. 
Moved by Commissioner  
Seconded by Commissioner  
Smith one point of clarification garage door moves but what about the siding when the garage 
door moves. 
Representative Norton reviewed the proposal and responded to the questions from the 
Planning Commission. 
Commissioner Smith clear approval with those changes of the notations "with loft above," 
condition 1 also needs correction, and a typo to correct the 640 square feet, and also noting 
no changes taking place inside the main house. 
She also had a couple of condition questions: #21, add to condition #21 that it cannot be a 
vacation rental'; condition #22, building inspector also needs to be involved to inspect; 
concern about it turning into a loft in future ...  
Commissioner Westman in agreement. 
Commissioner Welch addressed the potential historic structures list. Was never mentioned. Is 
the barn even in the historical context? 
Commissioner Newman discussed historical context. 
Chairperson Storey in agreement in trying to preserve the unit in historical context and 
standards and conjectural features. 
Commissioner Smith moved approval with corrections and additional language, seconded by 
Commissioner Welch. Unanimous. 

RESULT: APPROVED AS AMENDED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

SECONDER: TJ Welch, Chairperson 

AYES: Smith, Newman, Welch, Westman, Storey 

C. 4201 Capitola Road #17-0441 APN: 034-121-36 & 37 
Tentative Map for a three-lot subdivision, Design Permit for three new single-
family homes, Variance request to allow encroachments into side yard setbacks, 
and demolition of two existing structures located at 4201 Capitola Road within 
the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) zoning district. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit 
which is not appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible 
appeals are exhausted through the City. 
Property Owner: Magnolia Tree Investments 
Representative: Matthew Thompson, Architect.  Filed: 11.09.2017  
FINDINGS 

A. There are no special circumstances applicable to subject property, such as size, 
shape, topography, location or surroundings, that would deprive the subject 

3.1

Packet Pg. 17

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

5,
 2

01
8 

7:
00

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.520
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.510
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – April 5, 2018 15 
 

property of privileges enjoyed by other properties in the vicinity and under the same 
zoning classification. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  There are no special circumstances 
applicable to the subject property, such as size, shape, topography, location, or 
surroundings, that would deprive the subject property of privileges enjoyed by other 
properties in the vicinity and under the same zoning classification.  In addition, the three 
subject properties are being created through a subdivision as part of this project, so any 
special circumstances would be a result of a self-imposed hardship.      

B. The grant of a variance permit would constitute a grant of special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in 
which subject property is situated. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  All other properties in the surrounding 
CN (Neighborhood Commercial) zone are subject to the setback requirements of Capitola 
Municipal Code §17.24.112 “Side yard setback,” so the grant of a variance would constitute 
a grant of a special privilege inconsistent with limitations upon other properties in the 
vicinity and zone in which the subject properties are situated.   
 

Assistant Planner Orbach provided the presentation. 
Deny the variance and approve the alternative plans submitted on April 5. 
Representative Matthew Thompson of Thacher & Thompson Architects, addressed the 
Planning Commission and provided the background on the proposed project. 
Chairperson Storey: roof eaves extend into the required side yard setbacks. 
Commissioner Newman: minor concern with the last minute set of plans and the choice of 
residential. 
Westman new zoning regulations would have required 
Welch: has no issues without the variance 
Smith: wrong project for the location 
Storey: was supportive of the variance for the sake of housing 
Newman: conditions addressed for a variance but under State law, you must make special 
findings 
Commissioner Newman moved approval the alternate plan, without the variance, seconded 
by Commissioner Westman. 
Roll call vote: 4 ayes to 1 no (Smith) 

RESULT: APPROVED AS AMENDED [4 TO 1] 

MOVER: Edward Newman, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Susan Westman, Commissioner 

AYES: Newman, Welch, Westman, Storey 

NAYS: Smith 

7. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 

Director Grunow reported that at the next City Council meeting of April 12, 2018, the City Council 
will consider a marijuana ordinance, seek direction on a framework for a future ordinance and 
how that would be set-up, including consideration of ballot initiative this November to asses a tax 
should the Council decide to allow retail sales of marijuana in the city. Director Grunow expressed 
his thanks to each of the Commissioners. 

8. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 

None. 

9. ADJOURNMENT 

3.1

Packet Pg. 18

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

5,
 2

01
8 

7:
00

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – April 5, 2018 16 
 
Approved by the Planning Commission 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Aluffi, Clerk to the Commission 

3.1

Packet Pg. 19

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
A

p
r 

5,
 2

01
8 

7:
00

 P
M

  (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

M
in

u
te

s)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: MAY 3, 2018 
 
SUBJECT: 110 Capitola Avenue Suite 1 #18-128 APN: 035-185-25 
 

Sign Permit for a new sign for Mia Bella Adonic, a new boutique located within 
the C-V (Central Village) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development 
Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: GI 110 Capitola Ave, LLC 
Representative: Kayla & Dee Dee Wilson        Filed: 03.23.2018  

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The application is for one wall sign at the new boutique retail store Mia Bella – Adonic.  The 
property is located at 110 Capitola Avenue Suite #1 in the Central Village (CV) zoning district.    
 
DISCUSSION 
Mia Bella - Adonic is a new retail business located at 110 Capitola Avenue Suite #1. The 
applicant is proposing to install one wall sign over the main window on the front façade of the 
store.  The previous business did not have a wall sign; therefore, a new wall sign requires 
approval by the Planning Commission. 
 
Wall Sign 
The proposed wall sign is 81 inches wide by 25 inches tall.  The sign will be comprised of one 
piece of solid redwood.  The company name and logo will be engraved, painted, and sealed on 
the redwood. Each of the letters will be engraved providing depth within the sign, similar to the 
neighboring sign at Suite #2. The large raised letters will be two inches from the backing with 
the smaller font below raised one inch. The sign will be mounted directly to the stucco wall. No 
illumination is proposed.  
 
The wall sign complies with all the wall sign standards, as outlined in §17.57.070.B and 
underlined below:   
 
1. Each business shall be permitted only one wall sign.  
Staff Analysis: The application includes one wall sign.  
 
2. The size of each individual sign shall not be greater than one square foot of sign area for 
each one linear foot of business frontage. 

4.A

Packet Pg. 20



 
 

 

Staff analysis: There are 20 linear feet of business frontage. The proposed wall sign is 16.25 
square feet.   
 
3. No such sign, including any light box or other structural part, shall project more than twelve 
inches from the building face. 
Staff analysis: The proposed sign is two inches thick and will be attached directly to the building 
face. 
 
4. Wall signs shall be mounted parallel to the building, unless otherwise approved by the 
planning commission. 
Staff analysis: The sign will be mounted parallel to the building face.   
 
5. No part of any such sign shall extend above the top level of the wall upon or in front of which 
it is situated. Any such sign which is suspended or projects over any public walkway or walk 
area shall have an overhead clearance of at least eight feet. No permanent sign may be erected 
over any publicly dedicated walkway or street contrary to the building code. 
Staff Analysis: The sign is proposed to be mounted directly to the wall above the window and 
well over the required eight foot minimum for overhead clearance.   
 
6. No such sign shall list the products to be sold or the services to be provided by any business. 
Staff Analysis: The sign includes the business logo and company name. It does not advertise 
any products or services sold.  
 
There are three suites at 110 Capitola Avenue.  Suite #2 has a wall sign above the window.  
The applicant is proposing a similar style sign that will be slightly larger in size.  The sign at 
suite #2 is 24 inches tall by 75 inches wide.  The proposed Mia Bella Adonic sign is 25 inches 
tall by 81 inches wide.  Both signs will be located over the large picture windows along the street 
providing continuity in the appearance from the street.  
 
CEQA 
This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California Environmental Quality 
Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations. The 
proposed project involves signs on a commercial property in the CV (Central Village) zoning 
district. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during project review by either the 
Planning Department Staff or the Planning Commission.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve the sign permit for application #18-
0128, based upon the following findings and conditions: 
 
CONDITIONS 
1.  The project approval consists of a 81 inch wide by 25 inch tall wall sign at the Mia Bella – 

Adonic at 110 Capitola Avenue Suite #1. The proposed project is approved as indicated on 
the final plans reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on May 3rd, 2018, 
except as modified through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the 
hearing. 
 

2.  Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 
requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department. Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require Planning 
Commission approval.   

 

4.A

Packet Pg. 21



 
 

 

3.  Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #18-0128 shall 
be paid in full. 

 
4.  Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired by 

the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed in the 
road right-of-way. 

 
5.  During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise curfew, 

except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  Construction 
noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty a.m. on weekdays. 
Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of Saturday work 
between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work approved by the building official. 
§9.12.010B 

 
6.  Compliance with all conditions of approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the 

Community Development Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of 
approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-
compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an 
application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to 
remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 

 
7.  This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have an 

approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit 
expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration 
pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 

 
8.  The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 

underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site 
on which the approval was granted. 

 
FINDINGS 
A. The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance and General Plan. 
 Community Development Department Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed 

the sign application and determined that the proposed signs will secure the purpose of the 
zoning ordinance and general plan.  

B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.   
 Community Development Department Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed 

the signs and determined that the signs maintain the character and integrity of the Central 
Village.   

C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California 
Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 The signs are proposed on an existing commercial building in the Central Village.  No 
adverse environmental impacts were discovered during project review by either the 
Planning Department Staff or the Planning Commission. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 110 Capitola Avenue Sign Plan 
2. 110 Capitola Ave - Multi Tenant Street View 

4.A

Packet Pg. 22



 
 

 

 
Prepared By: Katie Herlihy 
  Senior Planner 

4.A

Packet Pg. 23



4.A.1

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

10
 C

ap
it

o
la

 A
ve

n
u

e 
S

ig
n

 P
la

n
  (

11
0 

C
ap

it
o

la
 A

ve
n

u
e 

S
u

it
e 

1)



4.A.2

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

10
 C

ap
it

o
la

 A
ve

 -
 M

u
lt

i T
en

an
t 

S
tr

ee
t 

V
ie

w
  (

11
0 

C
ap

it
o

la
 A

ve
n

u
e 

S
u

it
e 

1)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: MAY 3, 2018 
 
SUBJECT: 1350 49th Avenue #18-0050 APN: 034-068-14 
 

Design Permit for a 670-square foot addition to an existing single-family 
residence with a variance for an encroachment into the side yard setback located 
at 1350 49th Avenue within the R-1 (Single-Family) zoning district.   
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal 
Development Permit which is appealable to the California Coastal 
Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Rick Aberle 
Representative: Stephen Lang, Filed: 01.26.2018  

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing to construct an addition, consisting of a one car garage with one 
bedroom above it and a small room at the base of the new stairway, to an existing, single-story, 
single-family residence located at 1350 49th Avenue within the R-1 (Single-Family) zoning 
district.  The applicant is requesting a variance for the proposed garage to extend 13 inches into 
the side yard setback. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the application on March 28th, 2018, 
and provided the applicant with the following direction: 
 
Public Works Representative, Danielle Uharriet: stated that the applicant is required to update 
the site plan to show the edge of pavement, verify the existing planter location(s), note that the 
planters will not be relocated, and note that the existing parking in front of the property will not 
be removed.  Applicant must also clarify if a new driveway approach is proposed and submit a 
site plan showing the existing, replaced, and proposed square footage of all impervious areas 
(buildings, covered porches, patios, walkways, and driveways). 
 
Building Inspector, Nelson Membreno: noted that the clearance in the building is fine. 
 
Local Architect, Frank Phanton: liked the design and appreciated where it was located in terms 
of protecting neighbor’s privacy. 
 
Assistant Planner, Matt Orbach: had no comments. 
 

5.A

Packet Pg. 26



 
 

 

Following the Architectural and Site Review hearing, the applicant provided information that 
addressed the Public Works questions and concerns.   
 
DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
With the exception of the side setback encroachment, for which a variance was requested, the 
proposed project complies with all development standards for the R-1 (Single-Family 
Residential) zoning district, as outlined in the following table: 
  

R-1 (Single-Family Residential) Zoning District 
 

Development Standards 

Building Height R-1 Regulation Proposed 

 25 ft. 22 ft. 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

Lot Size 3,216 sq. ft. 

Maximum Floor Area Ratio 57% (Max: 1,833 sq. ft.) 

  First Story Floor Area 1,454 sq. ft. 

 Second Story Floor Area 379 sq. ft. 

   TOTAL FAR 1,833 sq. ft. (57%) 

Yards (setbacks are measured from the edge of the public right-of-way) 

 R-1 Regulation Existing Proposed 

Front Yard 1st Story 15 ft. 11 ft. 6 in.  
Existing 
Nonconforming 

11 ft. 6 in. 
Existing 
Nonconforming 

Front Yard 2nd Story & 
Garage 

20 ft. N/A  21 ft 6 in & 26 ft. 

Side Yard 1st Story 10% lot 
width 

Lot width: 67 ft 
7 in. 
6 ft. 9 in. min. 

14 ft. (North) 
 
 
0 ft. (South) 
Existing 
Nonconforming 

5 ft. 9 in. (North)  
Variance 
Requested 
0 ft. (South) 
Existing 
Nonconforming 

Side Yard 2nd Story 15% of 
width 

Lot width: 67 ft 
7 in.   
10 ft. 2 in. min 

N/A 33 ft. 7 in. 
(South) 
10 ft. 11 in. 
(North) 

Rear Yard 1st Story 20% of 
lot 

depth 

Lot depth: 50 
ft. 10 in.  
10 ft. 2 in. min. 

10 in.  
Existing 
Nonconforming 

10 in.  
Existing 
Nonconforming 

Rear Yard 2nd Story 20% of 
lot 

depth 

Lot depth 50 ft. 
10 in.    
10 ft. 2 in. min 

N/A 10 ft. 2 in. 

Encroachments (list all) Side Setback 13 in. garage encroachment 
Variance Requested 

Parking 

 Required Proposed 

Residential (from 1,501 
up to 2,000 sq. ft.) 

2 spaces total 
1 covered 
1 uncovered 

2 spaces total 
1 covered 
1 uncovered 

Underground Utilities: required with 25% increase Required 

5.A

Packet Pg. 27



 
 

 

in area 

 
DISCUSSION 
The existing residential development at 1350 49th Avenue is a one-story, nonconforming, single-
family home.  The applicant is proposing to construct a one-car garage with one bedroom above 
it on the northern side of the lot.  The lot is located in the Jewel Box neighborhood at the 
intersection of Topaz Street and 49th Avenue.  Residential structures in the area include one- 
and two-story single-family homes and the Surf and Sand Mobile Home Park.   
 
The proposed addition includes a new 226 square foot one-car garage, a 379 square foot 
second story living space above the garage, and a 61 square foot addition to the first story to 
accommodate a hallway and the stairwell to the second story.  The total new area added to the 
home is 666 square feet.  The second story living space includes a master bedroom, master 
bath, and closet.   
 
The addition features horizontal wood siding that will be painted Coronado Moss green to match 
the existing home and has white trim in the eaves.  The roof will have composition shingles 
similar to the roof on the existing structure. 
 
Nonconforming Structure 
The existing home is a nonconforming structure due to the home being partially located within 
side and rear yard setbacks. The proposed project was reviewed by the building official and 
does not exceed eighty percent of the present fair market value of the structure, as calculated 
under Capitola Municipal Code (CMC) §17.72.070 “Permissible structural alterations.”  The 
proposed addition is a permissible structural alteration to the nonconforming structure.   
 
Variance 
The applicant is requesting a variance to allow a 13-inch encroachment into the side setback so 
that the garage can provide the required 10 foot by 20 foot clear space inside.   
 
Pursuant to §17.66.090, the Planning Commission, on the basis of the evidence submitted at 
the hearing, may grant a variance permit when it finds: 
 

A. That because of special circumstances applicable to subject property, including size, 
shape, topography, location or surroundings, the strict application of this title is found to 
deprive subject property of privileges enjoyed by other properties in the vicinity and 
under identical zone classification; 

 
B. That the grant of a variance permit would not constitute a grant of special privilege 

inconsistent with the limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in which 
subject property is situated. 

 
Staff finds that the following special circumstances are applicable to the subject property:  
 

A. The lot has a very irregular shape as a four-sided polygon with no parallel sides. Typical 
lots in the Jewel Box neighborhood are rectangular shaped and approximately 40 feet 
wide by 80 feet deep.  The subject lot is unique in that it is wide but lacks depth.  The 
frontage is 60 feet wide and the side lot lines are 30 feet deep on the south side and 71 
feet deep on the north side.  The required 15 feet front yard setback and 20 percent rear 
yard setback result in a very limited allowed building footprint elongated within the center 

5.A

Packet Pg. 28



 
 

 

of the lot.  The unique lot shape provides an atypical area in which to locate a 
rectangular garage.  
 

B. Most properties in the vicinity and zone in which the property is located are able to 
accommodate the required 10 foot by 20 foot covered parking space due to the fact that 
they are regularly shaped.  Granting the variance will allow the applicant to enjoy the 
same privilege as those properties. 

 
CEQA 
Section 15332 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts project characterized as in-fill development 
when the project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and all applicable 
general plan policies as well as with applicable zoning designation and regulations; the 
proposed development occurs within city limits on a project site of no more than five acres 
substantially surrounded by urban uses; the project site has no value as habitat for endangered, 
rare, or threatened species;  the project would not result in any significant effects relating to 
traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality; and the site can be adequately served by all required 
utilities and public services. The proposed project is consistent with the in-fill development 
exemption and no adverse environmental impacts were discovered by Planning Staff, the 
Architectural and Site Review Committee, or the Planning Commission during review of the 
proposed project.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends approval of application #18-0050 for the addition to the single family home, 
including with a variance to allow a 13-inch encroachment into the side setback, based on the 
finding and conditions of approval. 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of a 666 square foot addition that includes a new 226 

square foot one-car garage, a 379 square foot second story living space above the 
garage, and a 61 square foot addition to the first story to accommodate a hallway and 
the stairwell to the second story with a variance for the side yard setback at 1350 49th 
Avenue within the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district.  The maximum Floor 
Area Ratio for the 3,216 square foot property is 57% (1,833 square feet).  The total FAR 
of the project is 57% with a total of 1,833 square feet, compliant with the maximum FAR 
within the zone.  The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans 
reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on May 3, 2018, except as 
modified through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM 
shall be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans.  All 
construction shall be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP 
STRM.   

 

5.A

Packet Pg. 29



 
 

 

5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 
requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.   
 

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and 
approved by the Community Development Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect 
the Planning Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species 
and details of irrigation systems.   

 
7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #18-0050 

shall be paid in full. 
 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as 
required to assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing 
Ordinance.   
 

9. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Creek Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.   
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans 
shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements 
all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard 
Details, including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 

 
12. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 

official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 

13. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 
 

14. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

15. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or 
sidewalk shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction 
of the Public Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or 
sidewalk shall meet current Accessibility Standards. 

    
16. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 

approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 

5.A

Packet Pg. 30



 
 

 

Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 
 

17. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

18. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 
 

19. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
placed out of public view on non-collection days. 

 
20. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the existing 

overhead utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole. 

 
FINDINGS 

A. The application, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the 
Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The proposed construction of a 666 
square foot addition with a variance for the side yard setback and the conditions 
imposed, secures the purpose of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local 
Coastal Plan. The project would comply with all other development standards of the 
Single-Family Residential Zoning District.  
 

B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the application for the construction of a 666 
square foot addition with a variance for the side yard setback.  The new residence will 
blend in with the adjacent structures while maintaining the character and integrity of the 
neighborhood.   

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15332 of the California    

Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
Section 15332 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts project characterized as in-fill 
development meeting the following criteria: 
 

a) The project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and all 
applicable general plan policies as well as with applicable zoning designation and 
regulations. 

b) The proposed development occurs within city limits on a project site of no more 
than five acres substantially surrounded by urban uses. 

5.A

Packet Pg. 31



 
 

 

c) The project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare, or threatened 
species. 

d) Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to traffic, 
noise, air quality, or water quality. 

e) The site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 
 
The project involves a 666 square foot addition to an existing 1,167 square foot, one-
story, single-family residence in the R-1 (Single Family) zoning district.  The project 
meets all of the criteria listed above and no adverse environmental impacts were 
discovered during review of the proposed project. 
 

D. Special circumstances applicable to the subject property, including size, shape, 
topography, location or surroundings, exist on the site and the strict application 
of this title is found to deprive subject property of privileges enjoyed by other 
properties in the vicinity and under identical zone classification; 
The special circumstance applicable to the property is that the subject property is the 
irregular shape of the lot that prohibits the owner from being able to provide a 10 foot by 
20 foot covered parking space within the required setbacks.   
 

E. The grant of a variance would not constitute a grant of a special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitation upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in 
which subject property is situated. 
The grant of a variance does not constitute a grant of a special privilege inconsistent 
with the limitation upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in which the property is 
situated.  Most properties in the vicinity and zone in which the property is located are 
able to accommodate the required 10 foot by 20 foot covered parking space due to the 
fact that they are regularly shaped.  Granting the variance will allow the applicant to 
enjoy the same privilege as those properties. 

 
COASTAL FINDINGS 
D. Findings Required.  

1. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of specific written factual 
findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed development conforms to 
the certified Local Coastal Program, including, but not limited to: 

a. A statement of the individual and cumulative burdens imposed on public 
access and recreation opportunities based on applicable factors identified 
pursuant to subsection (D)(2) of this section. The type of affected public 
access and recreation opportunities shall be clearly described; 

b. An analysis based on applicable factors identified in subsection (D)(2) of this 
section of the necessity for requiring public access conditions to find the 
project consistent with the public access provisions of the Coastal Act; 

c. A description of the legitimate governmental interest furthered by any access 
conditioned required; 

d. An explanation of how imposition of an access dedication requirement 
alleviates the access burdens identified. 

 

• The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local 
Coastal Plan (LCP).  The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 
17.46.090(D) are as follows: 

 
2. Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for public 

access, including the type of access and character of use, the city shall 

5.A

Packet Pg. 32

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


 
 

 

evaluate and document in written findings the factors identified in subsections 
(D)(2)(a) through (e), to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the 
basis for the conclusions and decisions of the city and shall be supported by 
substantial evidence in the record. If an access dedication is required as a 
condition of approval, the findings shall explain how the adverse effects which 
have been identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the dedication. As used in 
this section, “cumulative effect” means the effect of the individual project in 
combination with the effects of past projects, other current projects, and 
probable future projects, including development allowed under applicable 
planning and zoning. 

a. Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of 
existing and open public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in 
the regional and local vicinity of the development. Analysis of the project’s 
effects upon existing public access and recreation opportunities. Analysis of 
the project’s cumulative effects upon the use and capacity of the identified 
access and recreation opportunities, including public tidelands and beach 
resources, and upon the capacity of major coastal roads from subdivision, 
intensification or cumulative buildout. Projection for the anticipated demand 
and need for increased coastal access and recreation opportunities for the 
public. Analysis of the contribution of the project’s cumulative effects to any 
such projected increase. Description of the physical characteristics of the site 
and its proximity to the sea, tideland viewing points, upland recreation areas, 
and trail linkages to tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the importance 
and potential of the site, because of its location or other characteristics, for 
creating, preserving or enhancing public access to tidelands or public 
recreation opportunities; 

 

• The proposed project is located at 1350 49th Avenue.  The home is not 
located in an area with coastal access.  The home will not have an 
effect on public trails or beach access. 

 
b. Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, 

including beach profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, history of 
erosion or accretion, character and sources of sand, wave and sand 
movement, presence of shoreline protective structures, location of the line of 
mean high tide during the season when the beach is at its narrowest 
(generally during the late winter) and the proximity of that line to 
existing structures, and any other factors which substantially characterize or 
affect the shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes 
to shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to 
shoreline processes and beach profile unrelated to the proposed 
development. Description and analysis of any reasonably likely changes, 
attributable to the primary and cumulative effects of the project, to: wave and 
sand movement affecting beaches in the vicinity of the project; the profile of 
the beach; the character, extent, accessibility and usability of the beach; and 
any other factors which characterize or affect beaches in the vicinity. Analysis 
of the effect of any identified changes of the project, alone or in combination 
with other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of the public 
to use public tidelands and shoreline recreation areas; 

 

5.A

Packet Pg. 33

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


 
 

 

• The proposed project is located along 49th Avenue.  No portion of the 
project is located along the shoreline or beach. 

 
c. Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the general 

public for a continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). Evidence 
of the type and character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, blufftop, 
etc., and for passive and/or active recreational use, etc.). Identification of 
any agency (or person) who has maintained and/or improved the area subject 
to historic public use and the nature of the maintenance performed and 
improvements made. Identification of the record owner of the area historically 
used by the public and any attempts by the owner to prohibit public use of the 
area, including the success or failure of those attempts. Description of the 
potential for adverse impact on public use of the area from the proposed 
development (including but not limited to, creation of physical or psychological 
impediments to public use); 

 

• There is not a history of public use on the subject lot. 
 

d. Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the development 
which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, 
public recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to see the 
shoreline; 

 

• The proposed project is located on private property on 49th Avenue.  
The project will not block or impede the ability of the public to get to or 
along the tidelands, public recreation areas, or views to the shoreline. 

 
e. Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the 

development’s physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any 
public recreation area. Analysis of the extent of which buildings, walls, 
signs, streets or other aspects of the development, individually or 
cumulatively, are likely to diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands 
committed to public recreation. Description of any alteration of the aesthetic, 
visual or recreational value of public use areas, and of any diminution of the 
quality or amount of recreational use of public lands which may be attributable 
to the individual or cumulative effects of the development. 

 

• The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact 
access and recreation.  The project does not diminish the public’s use 
of tidelands or lands committed to public recreation nor alter the 
aesthetic, visual, or recreational value of public use areas. 

 
3. Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination that one of 

the exceptions of subsection (F)(2) applies to a development shall be supported 
by written findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all of the 
following: 

a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, 
lateral, bluff top, etc.) and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource 
to be protected, the agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military 
facility which is the basis for the exception, as applicable; 

5.A

Packet Pg. 34

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.090
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.110
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.620
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.093
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


 
 

 

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, 
intensity, hours, season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, 
fragile coastal resources, public safety, or military security, as applicable, are 
protected; 

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same 
area of public tidelands as would be made accessible by an accessway on the 
subject land. 

 

• The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore 
these findings do not apply. 

 
4. Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in support of a 

condition requiring a management plan for regulating the time and manner or 
character of public access use must address the following factors, as 
applicable: 

a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the reasons 
supporting the conclusions that such values must be protected by limiting the 
hours, seasons, or character of public use; 

 

• The project is located in a residential area without sensitive habitat 
areas. 

 
b. Topographic constraints of the development site; 

 

• The project is located on a flat lot. 
 

c. Recreational needs of the public; 
 

• The project does not impact the recreational needs of the public. 
 

d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting the 
project back from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development; 

e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of dedication is 
the mechanism for securing public access; 

f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods as 
part of a management plan to regulate public use. 

 
5. Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of 

appropriate legal documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, 
and as, required by the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal 
access requirements); 

 

• No legal documents to ensure public access rights are required for the 
proposed project. 

 
6. Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies; 

 
SEC. 30222 
The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational 
facilities designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall 

5.A

Packet Pg. 35

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/html/Capitola17/Capitola1746.html#17.46.010
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


 
 

 

have priority over private residential, general industrial, or general commercial 
development, but not over agriculture or coastal-dependent industry. 

 

• The project involves a single-family home on a residential lot of record. 
 

SEC. 30223 
Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved 
for such uses, where feasible. 
 

• The project involves a single-family home on a residential lot of record. 
 
c) Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed 
areas shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of 
attraction for visitors. 
 

• The project involves a single-family home on a residential lot of record. 
 
7. Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for provision of 

public and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation and/or traffic improvements; 

 

• The project involves the construction of a single-family home. The 
project complies with applicable standards and requirements for 
provision for parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation, and/or traffic improvements. 

 
8. Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by the 

city’s architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted 
design guidelines and standards, and review committee recommendations; 

 

• The project complies with the design guidelines and standards 
established by the Municipal Code. 

 
9. Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public landmarks, 

protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or detract from 
public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline; 

 

• The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public 
views. The project will not block or detract from public views to and 
along Capitola’s shoreline. 

 
10. Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services; 

 

• The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and 
sewer services. 

 
11. Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times; 

 

• The project is located a short distance from the Capitola fire 
department. Water is available at the location. 

 

5.A

Packet Pg. 36

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.090


 
 

 

12. Project complies with water and energy conservation standards; 
 

• The project is for an addition to a single-family home. The GHG 
emissions for the project are projected at less than significant impact. 
All water fixtures must comply with the low-flow standards of the 
Soquel Creek Water District. 

 
13. Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be required; 

 

• The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building 
permit issuance. 

 
14. Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances 

including condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances; 
 

• The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes. 
 
15. Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological protection 

policies; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with 
established policies. 

 
16. Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies; 

 

• The project is outside of any identified sensitive habitats, specifically 
areas where Monarch Butterflies have been encountered, identified 
and documented. 

 
17. Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect marine, 

stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with 
applicable erosion control measures. 

 
18. Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professional for 

projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal bluffs, and 
project complies with hazard protection policies including provision of 
appropriate setbacks and mitigation measures; 

 

• Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified 
professionals for this project. Conditions of approval have been 
included to ensure the project applicant shall comply with all applicable 
requirements of the most recent version of the California Building 
Standards Code. 

 
19. All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and mitigated in 

the project design; 
 

5.A

Packet Pg. 37

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.093


 
 

 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project 
complies with geological, flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for 
and will be mitigated in the project design. 

 
20. Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 

 

• The proposed project is not located along a shoreline. 
 
21. The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses of the 

zoning district in which the project is located; 
 

• This use is an allowed use consistent with the Single-Family 
Residential zoning district. 

 
22. Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning requirements, 

and project review procedures; and 
 

• The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning 
requirements, and project development review and development 
procedures. 

 
23. Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows: 

a. The village area preferential parking program areas and conditions as 
established in Resolution No. 2596 and no permit parking of any kind shall be 
allowed on Capitola Avenue. 

b. The neighborhood preferential parking program areas are as established in 
Resolution Numbers 2433 and 2510. 

c. The village area preferential parking program shall be limited to three hundred 
fifty permits. 

d. Neighborhood permit areas are only in force when the shuttle bus is operating 
except that: 

i. The Fanmar area (Resolution No. 2436) program may operate year-
round, twenty-four hours a day on weekends, 

ii. The Burlingame, Cliff Avenue/Grand Avenue area (Resolution No. 
2435) have year-round, twenty-four hour per day “no public parking.” 

e. Except as specifically allowed under the village parking program, no 
preferential residential parking may be allowed in the Cliff Drive parking areas. 

f. Six Depot Hill twenty-four minute “Vista” parking spaces (Resolution No. 2510) 
shall be provided as corrected in Exhibit A attached to the ordinance codified 
in this section and found on file in the office of the city clerk. 

g. A limit of fifty permits for the Pacific Cove parking lot may be issued to village 
permit holders and transient occupancy permit holders. 

h. No additional development in the village that intensifies use and requires 
additional parking shall be permitted. Changes in use that do not result in 
additional parking demand can be allowed and exceptions for onsite parking 
as allowed in the land use plan can be made. 

 

• The project site is not located within the area of the Capitola parking 
permit program. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

5.A

Packet Pg. 38

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.520
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.510
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


 
 

 

1. Full Plan Set - 1350 49th Ave 
2. Materials Board - 1350 49th Ave 

 
Prepared By: Matt Orbach 
  Assistant Planner 

5.A

Packet Pg. 39



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 1
35

0 
49

th
 A

ve
  (

13
50

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 1
35

0 
49

th
 A

ve
  (

13
50

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 1
35

0 
49

th
 A

ve
  (

13
50

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 1
35

0 
49

th
 A

ve
  (

13
50

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 1
35

0 
49

th
 A

ve
  (

13
50

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 1
35

0 
49

th
 A

ve
  (

13
50

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 1
35

0 
49

th
 A

ve
  (

13
50

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 1
35

0 
49

th
 A

ve
  (

13
50

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
 -

 1
35

0 
49

th
 A

ve
  (

13
50

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.2

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

at
er

ia
ls

 B
o

ar
d

 -
 1

35
0 

49
th

 A
ve

  (
13

50
 4

9t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: MAY 3, 2018 
 
SUBJECT: 318 Riverview Avenue #18-0045 APN: 035-172-18 
 

Design Permit for demolition of an existing two-story single-family 
residence and construction of a new three-story single-family 
residence which includes a variance request for parking standards and 
open space located within the C-V (Central Village) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal 
Development Permit which is appealable to the California Coastal 
Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: JDT Capital LLC 
Representative: Derek Van Alstine, Filed: 01.24.2018 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing to demolish an existing two-story, single-family residence and 
construct a new three-story, single-family residence at 318 Riverview Avenue within the C-V 
(Central Village) zoning district. The application includes a variance for the number of required 
parking spaces, parking space dimensions, and required open space. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the application on March 28th, 2018, 
and provided the applicant with the following direction: 
 
Public Works Representative, Danielle Uharriet: asked the applicant to identify the storm drains 
that that downspouts drain to and any roof encroachments into the adjacent easement or the 
public right-of-way on the plans.  Ms. Uharriet also informed the applicant that the flagstone 
patio shown on the plans would have to be removed because no improvements are allowed in 
the PG&E easement in the rear alleyway and suggested contacting PG&E regarding any guy 
lines that are proposed to be relocated.   
 
Building Inspector, Nelson Membreno: informed the applicant the fire sprinklers will be required 
for this project.   

 

Local Architect, Frank Phanton: had no comments. 
 
Assistant Planner, Matt Orbach: had no comments. 
 

5.B

Packet Pg. 50



 
 

 

Following the Architectural and Site Review hearing, the applicant submitted revised plans 
showing the removal of the flagstone patio in the PG&E easement and the location of the storm 
drains to which the downspouts will drain. 
 
Zoning Review 
 

Development Standards 

Lot Size 737 sq. ft. 

Total Floor Area - Existing 1,127 sq. ft. 

Total Floor Area - Proposed 2,085 sq. ft. 

Building Height Proposed Height 

CV Regulation – 27 ft. 27 ft. 

Lot Coverage 

Sufficient space for required parking No. Variance Requested. 

Small lots within Riverview Avenue residential overlay district 
on north side of Riverview Avenue shall allow 90% 
development of the lot without any specific setback 
requirements.  10% open space shall be located in the front 
part of the lot. 

Required 
Open Space: 
10% of lot or  
74 sq. ft. 

Proposed 
Open Space:  
0% of lot or  
0 sq. ft. 
Variance 
Requested  

Yards 

10% of lot area shall be developed as landscaped open area, 
at least partially fronting on, and open to, the street.  No 
portion of this landscaped area shall be used for off-street 
parking. 

Required 
Open Space:  
10% of lot or  
74 sq. ft. 

Proposed 
Open Space:  
0% of lot or  
0 sq. ft. 
Variance 
Requested 

Parking 

 Required Proposed 

Residential (from 2,001 up 
to 2,600 sq. ft.) 

3 spaces total 
1 covered 
2 uncovered 

2 spaces total 
2 covered (both substandard) 
0 uncovered 
Variance Requested 

When a substantial remodel or reconstruction of a building is 
done for reasons other than fire or natural disaster, parking 
requirements for the entire structure shall be provided. 

Variance Requested 

Underground Utilities – required with 25% increase area Required. 

 
 
DISCUSSION 
The applicant is proposing to demolish an existing two-story, single-family residence and 
construct a new three-story, single-family residence which includes a variance request for 
parking standards and open space.  The property is located in the Riverview Avenue 
Residential Overlay District and the Old Riverview Historic District in the C-V (Central Village) 
zoning district.  This section of Riverview Avenue, between the railroad trestle and Stockton 
Avenue, is made up of one, two, and three story single-family homes and condos.  It is a dense 
neighborhood with very little parking, many historic homes, many nonconforming structures, and 
little or no setbacks between buildings.   
 

5.B

Packet Pg. 51

http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.110
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650


 
 

 

The existing two-story residence is 1,127 square feet.  The proposed three-story residence is 
2,085 square feet.  The structure is rectangular in shape with a recessed entry way on the first 
story and a deck on the stepped third story.  The proposed siding is cement plaster on the first 
story with board and batten on the second and third story.  The proposed residence would be 
compatible with the size and style of structures in the neighborhood.  The applicant will present 
a streetscape of the project at the Planning Commission hearing to show the proposed front 
elevation relative to the two adjacent structures.  
 
Variance 
The applicant is requesting a variance to the number of parking spaces, parking dimensions, 
and open space standards for the C-V zone.  Three spaces are required for the single-family 
home, one of which must be covered. Interior (covered) spaces are required to be 10 feet by 20 
feet clear, as measured from the interior wall surfaces. The application includes two covered 
spaces that do not comply with the minimum dimension requirements.   
 
Pursuant to §17.66.090, the Planning Commission, on the basis of the evidence submitted at 
the hearing, may grant a variance permit when it finds: 
 
A. That because of special circumstances applicable to subject property, including size, shape, 

topography, location or surroundings, the strict application of this title is found to deprive 
subject property of privileges enjoyed by other properties in the vicinity and under identical 
zone classification; 
  

B.  That the grant of a variance permit would not constitute a grant of special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in which 
subject property is situated. 

 
Parking Standards 
Staff finds that the special circumstances applicable to the subject property is the substandard 
lot size and lot dimensions.  The lot is 19 feet wide by 39 ½ feet deep.  The applicant is 
proposing two spaces in tandem.  Two twenty-foot-deep spaces in tandem cannot be achieved 
on the 39 ½ feet lot depth.  The applicant is proposing two interior spaces that are 18 feet deep 
by 10 feet wide.   
 
Residents up to 2,000 square feet in floor area are required to have two parking spaces.  The 
proposed home has a floor area of 2,085 square feet and requires a third parking place.  A third 
parking space cannot be achieved within the lot.  Riverview Avenue is challenged with very 
limited on street parking.  Staff has concerns with allowing a variance for the required third 
parking space due to the impacts to street parking.  
 
Staff researched the previous planning permits for 300 block of Riverview.  Attachment 2 
includes a summary of staff’s findings.  Variances for required parking were approved for 
several other properties on Riverview Avenue, including the adjacent properties at 320 
Riverview Ave (2003), 316 Riverview Avenue (2006), and 317 Riverview Avenue (2006).  The 
findings for the variances were based on the fact that the lots are small and that “the granting of 
the variances would not constitute a grant of a special privilege inconsistent with the limitations 
upon other properties in the vicinity” because there are “other lots in the vicinity with similar 
situations.”  A variance request for 322 Riverview Avenue was denied, but the Planning 
Commission required the applicant to pay in-lieu fees for not meeting the parking requirements.  
In-lieu fees are no longer an option within the zoning code for residential development.   
 

5.B

Packet Pg. 52



 
 

 

In addition to the current application, the City has received two additional applications with 
variance requests for parking requirements at 324 and 334 Riverview Avenue that are currently 
moving through the planning process. Also, on January 18, 2018, the Planning Commission 
approved a 10 percent addition to the home at 332 Riverview Avenue.  The applicant limited the 
addition to 10 percent of the existing floor area of the home to not trigger the requirement of a 
third parking space, pursuant to 17.51.015.D.  The home at 332 Riverview Drive, with the 
addition, is 2,369 square feet.   
 
Lot Coverage and Open Space 
There is no specific maximum lot coverage in the Riverview Avenue Residential Overlay District 
of the C-V zone, except that: (1) sufficient space must be provided to satisfy off-street parking 
and loading area requirements, (2) on the small lots on the north side of Riverview Avenue, 
ninety percent development is allowed without any setback requirements, and (3) the ten 
percent open space must be located in the front part of the lot.  The proposed project has one 
hundred percent lot coverage and no open space.  However, Staff surveyed the lots on the 
north side of Riverview Avenue, and none of them provide the required open space at the front 
of the lot.  A records search showed that most of these homes either received variances for the 
open space requirements or are existing nonconforming.   
 
CEQA 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts one single family residence, or a second 
dwelling unit in a residential zone.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during 
review of the proposed project.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission deny the variance for the third parking space and 
require the applicant to revise the plans to a maximum floor area of 2,000 square feet for 
application  #18-0045 at 318 Riverview Avenue, in accordance with the following findings.     
 

FINDINGS 
A. The application does not secure the purposes of the Zoning Ordinance, General 

Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The proposed construction of a new 
2,085 square foot three-story single-family residence with a variance for required 
parking, parking dimensions, and required open space, does not secure the purpose of 
the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. The project does not 
comply with the development standards of the Central Village Zoning District.  
 

B. The application will not maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the application for the construction of a new 
2,085 square foot three-story single-family residence with a variance for required 
parking, parking dimensions, and required open space.  The new residence does not 
comply with the development standards of the Central Village Zoning District, so it will 
not maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.   

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(a) of the California    

Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts one single-family residence, or a 
second dwelling unit in a residential zone.  The project involves a new 2,085 square foot 

5.B

Packet Pg. 53



 
 

 

three-story single-family residence in the Riverview Avenue Residential Overlay District 
in the C-V (Central Village) zoning district.  Staff has not identified any possible 
environmental impacts associated with the project. 
 

D. Special circumstances applicable to the subject property, including size, shape, 
topography, location or surroundings, exist on the site and the strict application 
of this title is found to deprive subject property of privileges enjoyed by other 
properties in the vicinity and under identical zone classification; 
The special circumstance applicable to the property is that the subject property is a small 
lot.   
 

E. The grant of a variance would not constitute a grant of a special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitation upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in 
which subject property is situated. 
The grant of a variance for the number of parking spaces required would constitute a 
grant of a special privilege inconsistent with the limitation upon other properties in the 
vicinity and zone in which the property is situated.   

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 318 Riverview Avenue - Full Plan Set 
2. Riverview Avenue Parking Analysis 
3. Conditions and Findings for Approval 

 
Prepared By: Matt Orbach 
  Assistant Planner 

5.B

Packet Pg. 54



                                                                 

                                                

 

T1

15
35

 S
EA

BR
IG

H
T

 A
V

EN
U

E 
SU

IT
E 

20
0,

 S
A

N
T

A
 C

R
U

Z,
 C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

(8
31

)4
26

-8
40

0 
PH

O
N

E 
 (

83
1)

42
6-

84
46

 F
A

X

R
 E

 S
 I 

D
 E

 N
 T

 I 
A

 L
   

D
 E

 S
 I 

G
 N

   
IN

C
.

D
 E

 R
 E

 K
   

V
 A

 N
   

A
 L

 S
 T

 I 
N

 E

DVRD

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DEREK VAN ALSTINE

2017 COPYRIGHT

DESIGNER

ISSUE DESCRIPTION

INC.

APN:

035-172-18

PLANNING SUBMITTAL:

REVISIONS:

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

BUILDING SUBMITTAL:

SCHEMATIC DESIGN

 

JD
T

 C
A

PI
T

A
L,

 L
LC

C
A

PI
T

O
LA

, C
A

 9
50

10
31

8 
R

IV
ER

V
IE

W
 A

V
E

NOV. 07, 2017

JAN. 24, 2018

MAR. 9, 2018
PC COMMENTS1

PC COMMENTS2
APR. 18, 2018

5.B.1Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

18
 R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

  (
31

8 
R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e)



5.B.1Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

18
 R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

  (
31

8 
R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e)



GARAGE
103

10'-0" X 32'-10"

ENTRY
104

MASTER
BEDROOM

205
12'-4" X 12'-7"

BATH
203

5'-5" X 8'-6"

BEDROOM
202

9'-3" X 10'-1"

BEDROOM
201

8'-6" X 13'-10"

MASTER
BATH

204
5'-5" X 16'-8"

KITCHEN
301

14'-8" X 9'-0"

DINING/
LIVING ROOM

303
14'-5" X 21'-6"

1/2
BATH

302
3'-1" X 8'-8"

A1

15
35

 S
EA

BR
IG

H
T

 A
V

EN
U

E 
SU

IT
E 

20
0,

 S
A

N
T

A
 C

R
U

Z,
 C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

(8
31

)4
26

-8
40

0 
PH

O
N

E 
 (

83
1)

42
6-

84
46

 F
A

X

R
 E

 S
 I 

D
 E

 N
 T

 I 
A

 L
   

D
 E

 S
 I 

G
 N

   
IN

C
.

D
 E

 R
 E

 K
   

V
 A

 N
   

A
 L

 S
 T

 I 
N

 E

DVRD

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DEREK VAN ALSTINE

2017 COPYRIGHT

DESIGNER

ISSUE DESCRIPTION

INC.

APN:

035-172-18

PLANNING SUBMITTAL:

REVISIONS:

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

BUILDING SUBMITTAL:

SCHEMATIC DESIGN

 

JD
T

 C
A

PI
T

A
L,

 L
LC

C
A

PI
T

O
LA

, C
A

 9
50

10
31

8 
R

IV
ER

V
IE

W
 A

V
E

NOV. 07, 2017

JAN. 24, 2018

MAR. 9, 2018
PC COMMENTS1

PC COMMENTS2
APR. 18, 2018

2

2

2

5.B.1Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

18
 R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

  (
31

8 
R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e)



A2

15
35

 S
EA

BR
IG

H
T

 A
V

EN
U

E 
SU

IT
E 

20
0,

 S
A

N
T

A
 C

R
U

Z,
 C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

(8
31

)4
26

-8
40

0 
PH

O
N

E 
 (

83
1)

42
6-

84
46

 F
A

X

R
 E

 S
 I 

D
 E

 N
 T

 I 
A

 L
   

D
 E

 S
 I 

G
 N

   
IN

C
.

D
 E

 R
 E

 K
   

V
 A

 N
   

A
 L

 S
 T

 I 
N

 E

DVRD

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DEREK VAN ALSTINE

2017 COPYRIGHT

DESIGNER

ISSUE DESCRIPTION

INC.

APN:

035-172-18

PLANNING SUBMITTAL:

REVISIONS:

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

BUILDING SUBMITTAL:

SCHEMATIC DESIGN

 

JD
T

 C
A

PI
T

A
L,

 L
LC

C
A

PI
T

O
LA

, C
A

 9
50

10
31

8 
R

IV
ER

V
IE

W
 A

V
E

NOV. 07, 2017

JAN. 24, 2018

MAR. 9, 2018
PC COMMENTS1

PC COMMENTS2
APR. 18, 2018

2

2

5.B.1Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

18
 R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

  (
31

8 
R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e)



Address Parking Status Variance Variance Rationale Parking Spaces Provided Parking Required Year

304 Riverview Ave Existing Nonconforming 2 (substandard)

305 Riverview Ave Variance Required Covered Parking Structure location/ historic preservation 4 2002

306 Riverview Ave Conforming 3

310 Riverview Ave Conforming 2

311 Riverview Ave Conforming 7

312 Riverview Ave Conforming 2

314 Riverview Ave Existing Nonconforming 0

315 Riverview Ave Existing Nonconforming 0

316 Riverview Ave Variance Required Parking Variance better serves the Zoning Ordinanace/ Small Lot 1 (substandard) 3 2006

317 Riverview Ave Existing Nonconforming 0

317 Riverview Ave #A Variance Required Parking Small Lot/Historic Structure 1 2 2006

318 Riverview Ave Existing Nonconforming - Variance Requested Required Parking Variance better serves Zoning Ordinanace/ Small Lot 1

319 Riverview Ave Conforming 3

320 Riverview Ave Variance Required Parking Variance better serves Zoning Ordinanace/ Small Lot & Lot Shape 2 (substandard) 3 2003

321 Riverview Ave Existing Nonconforming 0

322 Riverview Ave Variance Denied - In-Lieu Fee Charged Required Parking Narrow Lot Width 1 2 2001

323 Riverview Ave Existing Nonconforming 0

324 Riverview Ave Existing Nonconforming - Variance Request Coming 1

325 Riverview Ave Conforming 5 (1 substandard)

326 Riverview Ave Existing Nonconforming 0

327 Riverview Ave Conforming 6

328 Riverview Ave Existing Nonconforming 1 (substandard)

330 Riverview Ave Existing Nonconforming 1 (substandard)

332 Riverview Ave Existing Nonconforming 2 3

333 Riverview Ave Conforming 5+

334 Riverview Ave Existing Nonconforming - Variance Requested 2

Riverview Avenue Parking Analysis

5.B.2

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e 
P

ar
ki

n
g

 A
n

al
ys

is
  (

31
8 

R
iv

er
vi

ew
 A

ve
n

u
e)



CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of the demolition of an existing two-story single-family 

residence and construction of a new 2,161 square foot three-story single-family 
residence with a variance for the required parking, parking dimensions, and required 
open space at 318 Riverview Avenue within the C-V (Central Village) zoning district. The 
proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by 
the Planning Commission on May 3, 2018, except as modified through conditions 
imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM 
shall be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans.  All 
construction shall be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP 
STRM.   

 
5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 

requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.   
 

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and 
approved by the Community Development Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect 
the Planning Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species 
and details of irrigation systems.   

 
7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #18-0045 

shall be paid in full. 
 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as 
required to assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing 
Ordinance.   
 

9. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Creek Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.   
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans 
shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements 

5.B.3

Packet Pg. 60

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

s 
an

d
 F

in
d

in
g

s 
fo

r 
A

p
p

ro
va

l  
(3

18
 R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e)



all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard 
Details, including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 

 
12. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 

official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 

13. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 
 

14. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

15. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or 
sidewalk shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction 
of the Public Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or 
sidewalk shall meet current Accessibility Standards. 

    
16. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 

approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 
 

17. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

18. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 
 

19. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
placed out of public view on non-collection days. 

 
20. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the existing 

overhead utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole. 

 
FINDINGS 

A. The application, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the 
Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 

Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The proposed construction of a new 

5.B.3

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

s 
an

d
 F

in
d

in
g

s 
fo

r 
A

p
p

ro
va

l  
(3

18
 R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e)



2,161 square foot three-story single-family residence with a variance for required 

parking, parking dimensions, and required open space, with the conditions imposed, 

secures the purpose of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 

The project would comply with all other development standards of the Central Village 

Zoning District.  

 

B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the application for the construction of a new 
2,161 square foot three-story single-family residence with a variance for required 
parking, parking dimensions, and required open space.  The new residence will blend in 
seamlessly with the adjacent structures while maintaining the character and integrity of 
the Riverview Avenue neighborhood.   

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(a) of the California    

Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts one single-family residence, or a 
second dwelling unit in a residential zone.  The project involves a new 2,161 square foot 
three-story single-family residence in the Riverview Avenue Residential Overlay District 
in the C-V (Central Village) zoning district.  Staff has not identified any possible 
environmental impacts associated with the project. 
 

D. Special circumstances applicable to the subject property, including size, shape, 
topography, location or surroundings, exist on the site and the strict application 
of this title is found to deprive subject property of privileges enjoyed by other 
properties in the vicinity and under identical zone classification; 
The special circumstance applicable to the property is that the subject property is a small 
lot.   
 

E. The grant of a variance would not constitute a grant of a special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitation upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in 
which subject property is situated. 
The grant of a variance does not constitute a grant of a special privilege inconsistent 
with the limitation upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in which the property is 
situated.  Multiple properties in the vicinity and zone in which the property is located 
have been granted variances to the parking and open space requirements.  Granting the 
variance will allow the applicant to enjoy the same privilege as those properties. 
   

COASTAL FINDINGS 

D. Findings Required.  
1. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of specific written factual 

findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed development conforms to 
the certified Local Coastal Program, including, but not limited to: 

a. A statement of the individual and cumulative burdens imposed on public 
access and recreation opportunities based on applicable factors identified 
pursuant to subsection (D)(2) of this section. The type of affected public 
access and recreation opportunities shall be clearly described; 

5.B.3

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

s 
an

d
 F

in
d

in
g

s 
fo

r 
A

p
p

ro
va

l  
(3

18
 R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e)



b. An analysis based on applicable factors identified in subsection (D)(2) of this 
section of the necessity for requiring public access conditions to find the 
project consistent with the public access provisions of the Coastal Act; 

c. A description of the legitimate governmental interest furthered by any access 
conditioned required; 

d. An explanation of how imposition of an access dedication requirement 
alleviates the access burdens identified. 

 

• The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local 
Coastal Plan (LCP).  The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 
17.46.090(D) are as follows: 

 
2. Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for public 

access, including the type of access and character of use, the city shall 
evaluate and document in written findings the factors identified in subsections 
(D)(2)(a) through (e), to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the 
basis for the conclusions and decisions of the city and shall be supported by 
substantial evidence in the record. If an access dedication is required as a 
condition of approval, the findings shall explain how the adverse effects which 
have been identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the dedication. As used in 
this section, “cumulative effect” means the effect of the individual project in 
combination with the effects of past projects, other current projects, and 
probable future projects, including development allowed under applicable 
planning and zoning. 

a. Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of 
existing and open public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in 
the regional and local vicinity of the development. Analysis of the project’s 
effects upon existing public access and recreation opportunities. Analysis of 
the project’s cumulative effects upon the use and capacity of the identified 
access and recreation opportunities, including public tidelands and beach 
resources, and upon the capacity of major coastal roads from subdivision, 
intensification or cumulative buildout. Projection for the anticipated demand 
and need for increased coastal access and recreation opportunities for the 
public. Analysis of the contribution of the project’s cumulative effects to any 
such projected increase. Description of the physical characteristics of the site 
and its proximity to the sea, tideland viewing points, upland recreation areas, 
and trail linkages to tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the importance 
and potential of the site, because of its location or other characteristics, for 
creating, preserving or enhancing public access to tidelands or public 
recreation opportunities; 

 

• The proposed project is located at 318 Riverview Avenue.  The home 
is not located in an area with coastal access.  The home will not have 
an effect on public trails or beach access. 

 
b. Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, 

including beach profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, history of 
erosion or accretion, character and sources of sand, wave and sand 
movement, presence of shoreline protective structures, location of the line of 
mean high tide during the season when the beach is at its narrowest 
(generally during the late winter) and the proximity of that line to 

5.B.3

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

s 
an

d
 F

in
d

in
g

s 
fo

r 
A

p
p

ro
va

l  
(3

18
 R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650


existing structures, and any other factors which substantially characterize or 
affect the shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes 
to shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to 
shoreline processes and beach profile unrelated to the proposed 
development. Description and analysis of any reasonably likely changes, 
attributable to the primary and cumulative effects of the project, to: wave and 
sand movement affecting beaches in the vicinity of the project; the profile of 
the beach; the character, extent, accessibility and usability of the beach; and 
any other factors which characterize or affect beaches in the vicinity. Analysis 
of the effect of any identified changes of the project, alone or in combination 
with other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of the public 
to use public tidelands and shoreline recreation areas; 

 

• The proposed project is located along Riverview Avenue.  No portion 
of the project is located along the shoreline or beach. 

 
c. Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the general 

public for a continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). Evidence 
of the type and character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, blufftop, 
etc., and for passive and/or active recreational use, etc.). Identification of 
any agency (or person) who has maintained and/or improved the area subject 
to historic public use and the nature of the maintenance performed and 
improvements made. Identification of the record owner of the area historically 
used by the public and any attempts by the owner to prohibit public use of the 
area, including the success or failure of those attempts. Description of the 
potential for adverse impact on public use of the area from the proposed 
development (including but not limited to, creation of physical or psychological 
impediments to public use); 

 

• There is not a history of public use on the subject lot. 
 

d. Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the development 
which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, 
public recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to see the 
shoreline; 

 

• The proposed project is located on private property on Riverview 
Avenue.  The project will not block or impede the ability of the public to 
get to or along the tidelands, public recreation areas, or views to the 
shoreline. 

 
e. Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the 

development’s physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any 
public recreation area. Analysis of the extent of which buildings, walls, 
signs, streets or other aspects of the development, individually or 
cumulatively, are likely to diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands 
committed to public recreation. Description of any alteration of the aesthetic, 
visual or recreational value of public use areas, and of any diminution of the 
quality or amount of recreational use of public lands which may be attributable 
to the individual or cumulative effects of the development. 

 

5.B.3

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

s 
an

d
 F

in
d

in
g

s 
fo

r 
A

p
p

ro
va

l  
(3

18
 R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.090
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.110
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.620
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


• The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact 
access and recreation.  The project does not diminish the public’s use 
of tidelands or lands committed to public recreation nor alter the 
aesthetic, visual, or recreational value of public use areas. 

 
3. Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination that one of 

the exceptions of subsection (F)(2) applies to a development shall be supported 
by written findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all of the 
following: 

a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, 
lateral, bluff top, etc.) and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource 
to be protected, the agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military 
facility which is the basis for the exception, as applicable; 

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, 
intensity, hours, season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, 
fragile coastal resources, public safety, or military security, as applicable, are 
protected; 

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same 
area of public tidelands as would be made accessible by an accessway on the 
subject land. 

 

• The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore 
these findings do not apply. 

 
4. Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in support of a 

condition requiring a management plan for regulating the time and manner or 
character of public access use must address the following factors, as 
applicable: 

a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the reasons 
supporting the conclusions that such values must be protected by limiting the 
hours, seasons, or character of public use; 

 

• The project is located in a residential area without sensitive habitat 
areas. 

 
b. Topographic constraints of the development site; 

 

• The project is located on a flat lot. 
 

c. Recreational needs of the public; 
 

• The project does not impact the recreational needs of the public. 
 

d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting the 
project back from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development; 

e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of dedication is 
the mechanism for securing public access; 

f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods as 
part of a management plan to regulate public use. 

 

5.B.3

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

s 
an

d
 F

in
d

in
g

s 
fo

r 
A

p
p

ro
va

l  
(3

18
 R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.093
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


5. Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of 
appropriate legal documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, 
and as, required by the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal 
access requirements); 

 

• No legal documents to ensure public access rights are required for the 
proposed project. 

 
6. Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies; 

 
SEC. 30222 
The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational 
facilities designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall 
have priority over private residential, general industrial, or general commercial 
development, but not over agriculture or coastal-dependent industry. 

 

• The project involves a single-family home on a residential lot of record. 
 

SEC. 30223 
Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved 
for such uses, where feasible. 
 

• The project involves a single-family home on a residential lot of record. 
 
c) Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed 
areas shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of 
attraction for visitors. 
 

• The project involves a single-family home on a residential lot of record. 
 
7. Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for provision of 

public and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation and/or traffic improvements; 

 

• The project involves the construction of a single-family home. The 
project complies with applicable standards and requirements for 
provision for parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation, and/or traffic improvements. 

 
8. Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by the 

city’s architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted 
design guidelines and standards, and review committee recommendations; 

 

• The project complies with the design guidelines and standards 
established by the Municipal Code. 

 
9. Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public landmarks, 

protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or detract from 
public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline; 

 

5.B.3

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

s 
an

d
 F

in
d

in
g

s 
fo

r 
A

p
p

ro
va

l  
(3

18
 R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/html/Capitola17/Capitola1746.html#17.46.010
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.090


• The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public 
views. The project will not block or detract from public views to and 
along Capitola’s shoreline. 

 
10. Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services; 

 

• The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and 
sewer services. 

 
11. Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times; 

 

• The project is located several blocks from the Capitola fire department. 
Water is available at the location. 

 
12. Project complies with water and energy conservation standards; 

 

• The project is for a single-family home. The GHG emissions for the 
project are projected at less than significant impact. All water fixtures 
must comply with the low-flow standards of the Soquel Creek Water 
District. 

 
13. Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be required; 

 

• The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building 
permit issuance. 

 
14. Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances 

including condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances; 
 

• The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes. 
 
15. Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological protection 

policies; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with 
established policies. 

 
16. Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies; 

 

• The project is outside of any identified sensitive habitats, specifically 
areas where Monarch Butterflies have been encountered, identified 
and documented. 

 
17. Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect marine, 

stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with 
applicable erosion control measures. 

 

5.B.3

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

s 
an

d
 F

in
d

in
g

s 
fo

r 
A

p
p

ro
va

l  
(3

18
 R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e)



18. Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professional for 
projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal bluffs, and 
project complies with hazard protection policies including provision of 
appropriate setbacks and mitigation measures; 

 

• Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified 
professionals for this project. Conditions of approval have been 
included to ensure the project applicant shall comply with all applicable 
requirements of the most recent version of the California Building 
Standards Code. 

 
19. All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and mitigated in 

the project design; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project 
complies with geological, flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for 
and will be mitigated in the project design. 

 
20. Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 

 

• The proposed project is not located along a shoreline. 
 
21. The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses of the 

zoning district in which the project is located; 
 

• This use is an allowed use consistent with the Central Village zoning 
district. 

 
22. Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning requirements, 

and project review procedures; and 
 

• The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning 
requirements, and project development review and development 
procedures. 

 
23. Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows: 

a. The village area preferential parking program areas and conditions as 
established in Resolution No. 2596 and no permit parking of any kind shall be 
allowed on Capitola Avenue. 

b. The neighborhood preferential parking program areas are as established in 
Resolution Numbers 2433 and 2510. 

c. The village area preferential parking program shall be limited to three hundred 
fifty permits. 

d. Neighborhood permit areas are only in force when the shuttle bus is operating 
except that: 

i. The Fanmar area (Resolution No. 2436) program may operate year-
round, twenty-four hours a day on weekends, 

ii. The Burlingame, Cliff Avenue/Grand Avenue area (Resolution No. 
2435) have year-round, twenty-four hour per day “no public parking.” 

5.B.3

Packet Pg. 68

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

s 
an

d
 F

in
d

in
g

s 
fo

r 
A

p
p

ro
va

l  
(3

18
 R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.093
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


e. Except as specifically allowed under the village parking program, no 
preferential residential parking may be allowed in the Cliff Drive parking areas. 

f. Six Depot Hill twenty-four minute “Vista” parking spaces (Resolution No. 2510) 
shall be provided as corrected in Exhibit A attached to the ordinance codified 
in this section and found on file in the office of the city clerk. 

g. A limit of fifty permits for the Pacific Cove parking lot may be issued to village 
permit holders and transient occupancy permit holders. 

h. No additional development in the village that intensifies use and requires 
additional parking shall be permitted. Changes in use that do not result in 
additional parking demand can be allowed and exceptions for onsite parking 
as allowed in the land use plan can be made. 

 

• The project site is not located within the area of the Capitola parking 
permit program. 

 

5.B.3

Packet Pg. 69

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

s 
an

d
 F

in
d

in
g

s 
fo

r 
A

p
p

ro
va

l  
(3

18
 R

iv
er

vi
ew

 A
ve

n
u

e)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.520
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.510
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: MAY 3, 2018 
 
SUBJECT: 2205 Wharf Road #18-0108 APN: 034-141-34 
 

Minor land division to create two lots of record and design permit for a new 
single-family residence for the property located at 2205 Wharf Road in the RM-
LM (Residential Multi-Family – Low-Medium Density) Zoning District.   
This project is not in the Coastal Zone and does not require a Coastal 
Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Christopher Wright 
Representative: Dennis Norton, filed: 3/7/2018 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The application includes a minor land division to create two lots of record from a single legal lot.  
The applicant is also seeking a design permit for a new single-family home on the newly created 
lot located along Wharf Road.  There is an existing triplex on the proposed rear lot.  The project 
is located in the RM-L (Multiple-Family Low Density) Zoning District. The property is located 
outside of the coastal zone and therefore the new zoning code applies to the development.  
 
BACKGROUND 
In 2017, the applicant submitted a request for a subdivision and new single family home.  The 
application was approved by the Planning Commission on July 20, 2017.  The adjacent property 
owner appealed the decision on August 2, 2017.  The owner subsequently decided to withdraw 
the application to redesign the subdivision with the lot oriented toward Wharf Road.   
 
On March 7, 2018 the City received a new application for the property with a modified lot 
configuration.  On March 14, 2018, the Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the 
application.  The following direction was provided to the applicant:  
 

• Committee Architect, Frank Phanton, commended the applicant on addressing privacy 
concerns.   
     

• City Public Works representative, Danielle Uharriet, requested updated stormwater 
calculations from the applicant.  

 

• City Building Inspector, Nelson Membreno, reminded applicant that a new water meter is 
necessary.     

 

5.C

Packet Pg. 70



 
 

 

• City Planner, Matt Orbach, requested that the plans be updated to show the second story 
footprint on the site plan and to update the calculations on the coversheet.    

 

Following the meeting, the applicant provided the requested updates to the public works and 
planning staff.  

 

DISCUSSION 
 
Subdivision 
The applicant is proposing to subdivide the single 19,854 square foot lot into two lots 
(Attachment 2). The existing parcel is approximately 114 feet wide by approximately 180 feet 
deep.  The existing conditions on the property include a triplex located on the back half of the 
lot, an emergency egress/access easement for the mobile home park along the driveway, and 
shared access off Wharf Road through the frontage of the neighboring property to the north.  
There is a recorded access easement for the shared access point.  
 
The minor subdivision will create two lots of record.  Lot A is a panhandle design for the existing 
triplex at the rear of the lot.  Lot B is a rectangular shaped lot at the front of the lot that has been 
designed to accommodate a new single-family home.         
 
Lot Area and Dimensions 
The follow table outlines the lot area and dimension requirements for development in the RM- 
LM Zoning District relative to the application.  
 

Lot area and Dimensions 

Code Requirements Proposed 

Lot Size: No Minimum Lot A: 13,287 sq. ft. (triplex) 

Lot B: 6,567 sq. ft. (new single-family) 

Lot Width: No Minimum Lot A: 92 ft. 

Lot B: 79 ft.  

Lot Depth: No Minimum  Lot A: 95 ft.  

Lot B: 84 ft.  

Site Area Per Dwelling Unit   

RM-LM:   4,400 sf per dwelling unit Parcel A: Triplex. 13,200 sf minimum for 3 units 

 Parcel B: Single-Family. 4,400 sf minimum 

 
Subdivision Design Standards.  
Subdivision applications are reviewed for compliance with Chapter 16 of the Municipal Code. 
The design standards within the subdivision ordinance were amended by City Council in 
November of 2017.  The following analysis includes the underlined updated design standards 
for lots (§16.24.170) and a staff analysis:   
 
A. The size and shape of lots shall be in conformance to any zoning regulations effective in the 
area of the proposed subdivision unless an exception is granted by the Planning Commission 
pursuant to section 16.24.170(H).  
Staff Analysis: Within the RM-L zoning district there are not minimum lot depth, lot width, lot 
size, or shape requirements.  There is a requirement for 4,400 square feet minimum site area 
per dwelling unit.  As shown in the table above, the application complies with all zoning 
regulations. 
  

5.C

Packet Pg. 71



 
 

 

B. The side lines of all lots, so far as possible, shall be at right angles to the street which the lot 
faces, or radial or approximately radial if the street is curved.    
Staff Analysis:  Lot B has been designed so the side lot lines are at right angles to the Wharf 
Road.  Lot A is a panhandle shaped lot with the frontage at a right angle to Wharf Road.         
 
C. The Planning Commission may require that building set back lines shall be indicated by 
dotted lines on the subdivision map.    
Staff Analysis: The tentative parcel map does not include the setback lines of the zone.  The 
application includes an existing triplex on parcel A and a single-family home on parcel B that 
comply with all development standards and design standards, including setbacks, for the multi-
family zone. The setbacks for the parcel A reflect the existing development pattern of the 
structure oriented toward the private road with the front yard to the south, rear yard to the north 
and side yards to the east and west.  
 
D. No lot shall be divided by a city boundary line.  
Staff Analysis: The entire property is located within the City of Capitola limits. 
 
E. Lots without 20 feet or more of frontage on a street will not be permitted.  Frontage 
requirements for flag lots may be satisfied by a driveway or private road accessing a street of 
twenty feet in width or more.  
Staff Analysis: Each lot has at least 20 feet of frontage along Wharf Road. Frontage is defined 
as that portion of a property abutting a street.   
 
F. Lots other than corner lots may front on more than one street where necessitated by 
topographic or other unusual conditions. 
Staff Analysis: Not applicable. 
 
G. In riparian corridors no lots may be created which do not contain adequate building area 
outside the riparian or stream setback.   
Staff Analysis: Not applicable. 
 
H.  With the exception of minimum lot size requirements or subsections D and G above, the 
Planning Commission or the City Council may grant an exception to one or more of the design 
standards if they find that strict conformance is impractical due to the site’s physical, 
topographic, or geometric conditions or if it would result in an undesirable or inferior subdivision 
design. 
Staff Analysis: As mentioned above within standard B, Lot B has been designed so the side lot 
lines are at right angles to the street.  Lot A is a panhandle shaped lot with the access through 
the shared access agreement, frontage at a right angle from the street, and development on the 
lot oriented toward the private road with the front yard on the south end.      
 
Development Standards Summary   
Development of a single-family home in the RM-LM zone must comply with the development 
standards of the R-1 zoning district.  The following table outlines the development standards of 
the R-1 zoning district for a property outside the coastal zone relative to the proposed single-
family home on Parcel B.   
 

Development Standards 

Building Height R-1 Regulation Proposed 

 25 ft. 25 ft. 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

5.C

Packet Pg. 72



 
 

 

Lot Size 6,554 sq. ft. 

Maximum Floor Area Ratio 48% = Max 3,145 sq. ft. 

  First Story Floor Area  1,142 sq. ft. 

  Second Story Floor Area 966 sq. ft. 

    Parking Calculation FAR 2,108 sq. ft. 

  Garage Floor Area 436 sq. ft. 

   TOTAL FAR 2,544 sq. ft. 

Yards  

 R-1 Regulation Proposed 

Front Yard 1st Story 15 ft. 17 ft. 7 in. 

Front Yard 2nd Story & Garage 20 ft. 20 ft. 1 in.  

Side Yard 1st Story 10% lot 
width 

Lot width  79 ft 
7 ft. min. 

10 ft. 

Side Yard 2nd Story 15% of 
lot width 

10.5 ft. 14 ft. 

Rear Yard 1st Story 20% of 
lot depth 

Lot depth   85 ft  
 17 ft. min. 

17 ft. 

Parking 

 Required Proposed 

Residential (from 2,001 up to 
2,600 sq. ft.) 

3 spaces total 
1 covered 
 

3 spaces total 
2 covered 
1 uncovered 

Underground Utilities: required with 25% increase in 
area 

Required 

 
In establishing a minor land division, the existing structure onsite should remain in compliance 
with the development standards with the introduction of the new lots.  The triplex located on 
Parcel A, complies with all development standard of the RM-LM (Multi-family Low Density) 
zoning district including height, lot coverage, setbacks, landscaping, open space, and parking 
requirements of the zone (Attachment 3).  The owner removed a portion of an existing deck in 
the side yard to comply with the setback standards.   
 
Design Permit 
2205 Wharf Road is in the Multi-Family, Low Density (RM-LM) zoning district.  The street has a 
mix of housing types including single-family homes, secondary dwelling units, multi-family 
dwellings, and mobile homes.  The proposed single-family home will complement the existing 
land uses in the nearby vicinity.  Currently, there is one existing triplex on lot A.  The structure is 
not listed on the 2005 City of Capitola Historic Structures List or the 1986 Capitola Architectural 
Survey.   
 
There is a significant change in grade along the property frontage.  The driveway will be 
repositioned slightly to accommodate Lot B, but overall follows the existing alignment across the 
front of the property then creating a wider curve at the corner to follow the side lot line to the 
existing triplex on the rear lot.   
 
The new single-family home is a two-story residence with articulation in the massing between 
the first and second floors.  The home will be finished with stained wood shingle siding and 
white wood trim.  A 12-inch white belly band is proposed to visually separate the two stories.  All 
windows and doors will have a four-inch trim.  The new home will have a paver walkway leading 
to a redwood deck by the entrance and a paver patio in the backyard. 
 

5.C

Packet Pg. 73



 
 

 

There are six mature trees on the site.  The owner is proposing to remove two trees due to 
proximity of the trees to the new home, one deodar cedar and one apple tree. The owner plans 
to plant four white crape myrtle, multi-trunk trees between the driveway and the home.   
 
The landscape plan includes additional planting around the periphery of the property including a 
mix of grasses, perennials, and shrubs.  Boulders will be placed within the landscape area in 
front of the new single-family home.  A new six-foot-high fence is proposed along the rear 
property line.   
 
Curb, Gutter, and Sidewalk.  Capitola Municipal Code 12.04.170 requires the construction of 
curb, gutter, and sidewalk on development projects except in areas deemed sidewalk exempt by 
the City.  This property is not located in a sidewalk exempt area.  Currently, there is a full 
sidewalk on the east side of Wharf Road and one single segment of sidewalk connecting to a 
crosswalk in front of Woolsey Court.    There are 3 active development applications along Wharf 
Road between Clares Street and the City boundary.  The Public Works Director reviewed the 
three submittals and recommended that staff condition the applications to require a deferred 
sidewalk agreement due to the necessary in-depth analysis that must be done prior to 
construction and prioritization by City Council.    A condition of approval is included that requires 
the owner enter into a deferred sidewalk agreement with the City to ensure construction of curb, 
gutter, and sidewalk at a future date.   
 
Access Easement.  There is a private easement for driveway access granted from 2225 Wharf 
Road to 2205 Wharf Road for the existing driveway that was recorded in 1987 (Attachment 4).  
2205 Wharf Road currently utilizes the easement for access. Use and enforcement of the 
easement is a civil matter which does not involve the City of Capitola. 

 
Soquel Creek Water District.  The Soquel Creek Water District granted a conditional Will Serve 
Letter for the project (Attachment 5). 
 
Sewer.  The Santa Cruz County Sanitation District provided a letter confirming the sewer 
service is available for the proposed development through an existing 1966 easement that 
connects to a sewer line under the adjacent mobile home park (Attachment 6).  The applicant 
also received a letter from Loma Vista Estates acknowledging that the project would not be 
connecting to the Loma Vista sewer line (Attachment 7).   
 
Driveway access and safety. The applicant hired a traffic engineer to review the driveway 
access for adequate site distance and safety (Attachment 9). Sight distance was identified as 
adequate for the existing driveway.  The study identifies that right turning vehicles existing the 
driveway to head south on Wharf Road cannot complete the turn without using the entire 
northbound Wharf Road travel lane.  The engineer noted that the topography of the site 
precludes widening or realigning the driveway approach at Wharf Road to be more standard.  
To mitigate the turning issue, the engineer recommended eliminating right hand turns out of the 
driveway through the installation of a “No Right Turn” sign on the driveway.  Also, to improve 
visibility, replacement the existing two-foot diameter convex mirror with a three-foot diameter 
convex mirror was also suggested.  The two recommendations of the traffic engineer have been 
included as required improvements in the conditions of approval.  
 
CEQA REVIEW 
Section 15315 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts minor land divisions in urbanized areas zoned 
for residential, commercial, or industrial use into four or fewer parcels when the division is in 
conformance with the General Plan and Zoning.  No adverse environmental impacts were 
discovered during review of the proposed project.  

5.C

Packet Pg. 74



 
 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve project application #18-0108 based on 
the following Conditions and Findings for Approval. 
 

1. The project approval consists of design permit for a new single family home and a minor 
land division at 2205 Wharf Road.  The new single-family home in the RM-L zone is 
reviewed for compliance with the R-1 (single family) zoning district development 
standards.  The maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 6,567 square-foot property is 48% 
(3,152 square feet).  The total FAR of the project is 2,544 square-feet, compliant with the 
maximum FAR within the zone. The proposed project is approved as indicated on the 
final plans reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on May 3, 2018, except 
as modified through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. The project consists of the subdivision of a 19,854 square foot lot into two lots.  The 
minor land division will create two lots with shared driveway access.  The tentative map 
identifies the front lot as Parcel B and the rear lot as Parcel A.  Parcel A will be 13,299 
square feet and Parcel B 6,554 square feet.   

 
3. Prior to recordation of the final parcel map, a maintenance agreement and access 

easement for the shared driveway shall be recorded and referenced on the parcel map.  
The access easement must be reviewed and approved by the City attorney prior to 
recordation. 

 
4. Available and necessary utilities, including CATV hookup facilities, with connections to 

each lot within the subdivision, shall be constructed in accordance with the utility’s 
requirements. All utilities for the new single-family home on Parcel B shall be 
underground to the nearest utility pole. 
 

5. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans.  
 

6. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  

 
7. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 

requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.  
 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and 
approved by the Community Development Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect 
the Planning Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species 
and details of irrigation systems, if proposed.  Native and/or drought tolerant species are 
recommended.       
 

9. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #16-041 
shall be paid in full. 

 

5.C

Packet Pg. 75



 
 

 

10. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as 
required to assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing 
Ordinance.  
 

11. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.  
 

12. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion control 
plan (BMPs), shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans shall 
be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 
13.16.100 Construction Site Storm Water Runoff Control.  All improvements shall be installed 
prior to the start of construction and shall be maintained throughout project duration. 
 

13. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired by 
the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed in the 
road right-of-way. 

 
14. At the time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail Storm 

Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP) shall be printed in full and incorporated 
as a sheet into the construction plans.  All construction shall be done in accordance with 
Public Works Standard Detail Storm Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP). 
 

15. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater management 
plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements all applicable Post 
Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard Details, including all 
standards relating to low impact development (LID), e.g. installing a rain barrel, disconnecting 
downspouts and directing drainage into landscaping, utilizing pervious paving materials. 

 
16. Applicant shall notify the Public Works Department 24 hours in advance of the 

commencement of work.  A pre-construction inspection must be conducted by the grading 
official, or appointed staff to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment 
control plan.  
 

17. The Applicant shall prepare and submit a parcel map showing the original parcel and the 
parcels being created by the subdivision, with pertinent supporting data, said map shall 
be filed with the Public Works Department with the appropriate review fees for review.  
Said parcel map shall be prepared by a licensed land surveyor or a registered civil 
engineer who shall be responsible for responding to comments until the map is 
acceptable to the Department of Public Works. 
 

18. All plans and profiles of improvements shall be approved by the Director of Public 

Works prior to the filing of the final map, and the construction of said improvements 

shall be in accordance with the City Specifications and shall be inspected by the Director 

of Public Works or his authorized agent, subject to fees appropriate for the services. 
 

19. Prior to final recording of the final parcel map, either all street and utility improvements, 

as required by the Public Works Department (i.e. curbs, gutters, sidewalks, paving, etc.) 

shall be completed or a bond shall be posted with the Public Works Department to secure 

construction of such street and utility improvements.   
 

5.C

Packet Pg. 76



 
 

 

20. Prior to the recordation of the parcel map, the applicant shall submit new legal 

descriptions for the three lots for review by the Community Development Director. 
 

 
21. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 

curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

22. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 
approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 
 

23. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

24. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 
 

25. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
shielded and placed out of public view on non-collection days.  
 

26. Install a “No Right Turn” (Caltrans Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices 
(CAMUTCD) Standard R3-1) sign on the driveway to prohibit right turn exits. The exact 
placement should be determined in consultation with the Capitola Public Works 
Department. 

 
27. Replace the existing two-foot diameter convex mirror with a three-foot diameter convex 

mirror. 
 
FINDINGS  
 

A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of 
the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 

 Community Development Department Staff and the Planning Commission have 
reviewed the project.  The minor land division, together with the provisions for its design 
and improvement, is consistent with the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance and General 
Plan. The new single-family home complies with requirements of the zoning district 

 
B.  The application is consistent with the Subdivision Map Act and local Subdivision 

Ordinance. 

5.C

Packet Pg. 77



 
 

 

 The minor land division was designed in accordance with the Subdivision Map Act and 
local ordinances enacted pursuant thereto.  Per the Subdivision Map Act, the proposed 
map is consistent with the General Plan, is physically suited for the proposed type and 
density of development, will not likely cause substantial environmental damage, or 
substantially and avoidably injure fish, wildlife or their habitats, will not cause serious 
public health problems, and will not conflict with public easements for access through, or 
use of, property within the proposed subdivision. 

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15315 of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 Section 15315 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts minor land divisions in urbanized areas 
zoned for residential, commercial, or industrial use into four or fewer parcels when the 
division is in conformance with the General Plan and Zoning.  

 
D. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
  Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 

Planning Commission have all reviewed the design of the single-family home. The 
structures fit within the built environment of the neighborhood.  The neighborhood is 
characterized by a mix of residential densities including single family homes, secondary 
structures, multi-family homes, apartments, and mobile homes.     

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 2205 Wharf Road Plans 
2. Parcel A Triplex Development Standards of RM-L 
3. 2205 Wharf Road Tentative Map. 
4. 2205 Wharf Access Easement 
5. 2205 Wharf Soquel Creek Water District Will serve letter 
6. SCC Sanitation District Letter 
7. Loma Vista Response letter 
8. 2205 Wharf Road Line of Sight and Safety Analysis 

 
Prepared By: Katie Herlihy 
  Senior Planner 

5.C

Packet Pg. 78



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 P

la
n

s 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 P

la
n

s 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 P

la
n

s 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 82

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 P

la
n

s 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 83

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 P

la
n

s 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 P

la
n

s 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 85

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 P

la
n

s 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 86

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 P

la
n

s 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 P

la
n

s 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 P

la
n

s 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 P

la
n

s 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 P

la
n

s 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.1

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 P

la
n

s 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



Existing Triplex on Lot A and Development Standards or RM-L Zone 
 

Site Area per dwelling unit 

Lot Size Parcel A: 13,299 

Minimum area per unit:  4,400 sf  4,400 sf per unit   

Triplex 13,200 sf minimum 

Development Standards 

Height 30 ft. 23 ft. 

Lot Coverage 40% (5,941 sq. ft.) 2,718 sf.  

Front yard, First story 15 ft.  26 ft. 

Front yard, Garage 20 ft. 68 ft. 

Front Yard, Second Story 15 ft. + 2% of lot depth  25 ft. 

Side Yard, First story 10% of lot width  
(9 ft. minimum) 

9 ft.   
 

Side Yard, Second story 12% of lot width 
(11 ft. minimum) 

n/a 

Encroachments Decks may encroach 2 ft. Deck encroaches 2 ft. 

Landscaping and Open Space 

Landscaping: Screen planting and additional landscaping 
shall be encouraged in all yard areas to insure privacy for 
all residents. 

The private open space for 
each unit is defined by either 

a fence or a deck. 

Usable open space: Not less than 50% of the required 
rear yard shall be developed as usable open space, fully 
landscaped and accessible to the residents of the structure 
on the site.  The least dimension of this usable open space 
shall be fifteen feet.  Fully developed roof terraces and roof 
gardens shall be allowed to provide up to one-half the area 
of usable open space. 

The rear yard is shared 
usable open space for use by 

all tenants. 

Private open space: Minimum private open space in the 
form of screened terraces, decks or balconies shall be 
provided as follows: 
1. Not less than fifty percent of dwelling units shall be 
provided with individual open space; 
2. Each private open space shall have a minimum area of 
forty-eight square feet, with a least dimension of four feet. 

All units have private open 
space. 

Parking 

 Required Proposed 

Triplex 2 spaces per unit 
1 covered 
1 uncovered 

10 spaces total 
3 covered 
7 uncovered 

Garage and Accessory Bldg. 

Garage Complies 

Accessory Building N/A 

Underground Utilities: required with 25% increase in 
area 

N/A 

 
 

5.C.2

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ar
ce

l A
 T

ri
p

le
x 

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

S
ta

n
d

ar
d

s 
o

f 
R

M
-L

  (
22

05
 W

h
ar

f 
R

o
ad

)



5.C.3

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 T

en
ta

ti
ve

 M
ap

.  
(2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.4

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

A
cc

es
s 

E
as

em
en

t 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.4

Packet Pg. 95

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

A
cc

es
s 

E
as

em
en

t 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.4

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

A
cc

es
s 

E
as

em
en

t 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



 

 

January 20, 2017 

 

 

 

Christopher Wright 

2205 Wharf Road 

Capitola, CA 95010 

 

SUBJECT: Unconditional Water Service Application for Residential Development 

at 2205 Wharf Road, APN 034-141-34 (addition of third unit)    

 

Dear Mr. Wright: 

 

In response to the subject application, the Board of Directors of the Soquel Creek Water District 

(SqCWD) at their regular meeting of January 17, 2017 voted to grant your apartment project an 

Unconditional Will Serve Letter based upon your compliance with SqCWD submittal 

requirements and satisfying Water Demand Offsets. 

 

Please note that this letter is specifically granted for the project as proposed in regards to uses 

and densities.  Any changes in the project that result in a change in use or an increase in water 

demand will require an application for a modification of this Unconditional Will Serve Letter. 

 

Additionally, final installation of your water service is dependent upon payment of all 

remaining fees and compliance with all previously identified requirements, including those 

specified in your Conditional Will Serve Letter.  At your convenience, please contact 

Conservation staff at (831)475-8500, x146 to schedule an on-site verification appointment.   

 

In order to finalize water service to your project, you will need to enter into a written agreement 

with the District.  Please note that the District no longer performs the installation part of your 

water service, as this is now the applicant’s responsibility.  You are responsible for hiring a pre-

approved Contractor to perform the installation, including obtaining any necessary 

encroachment permit.  The aforementioned agreement will itemize construction inspection costs 

associated with your Contractor installing the water service, meter drop-in fees, and water 

capacity fees as applicable.   Prior to setting a meter, SqCWD Conservation Staff will need to 

perform an on-site verification of compliance.    Should you have any questions about this 

process or require assistance, please contact Conservation staff or Engineering staff at (831) 

475-8500. 

 

Sincerely, 

SOQUEL CREEK WATER DISTRICT 

 

 

 

Taj A. Dufour, P.E. 

Engineering Manager/Chief Engineer 

5.C.5

Packet Pg. 97

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

S
o

q
u

el
 C

re
ek

 W
at

er
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

W
ill

 s
er

ve
 le

tt
er

  (
22

05
 W

h
ar

f 
R

o
ad

)



5.C.6

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

C
C

 S
an

it
at

io
n

 D
is

tr
ic

t 
L

et
te

r 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.6

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

C
C

 S
an

it
at

io
n

 D
is

tr
ic

t 
L

et
te

r 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.6

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

C
C

 S
an

it
at

io
n

 D
is

tr
ic

t 
L

et
te

r 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.6

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

C
C

 S
an

it
at

io
n

 D
is

tr
ic

t 
L

et
te

r 
 (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



5.C.7

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

o
m

a 
V

is
ta

 R
es

p
o

n
se

 le
tt

er
  (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



 

2060 ROCKROSE COURT, GILROY, CA 95020 
T 408.201.2752  KEITH@KEITHHIGGINSTE.COM  WWW.KEITHHIGGINSTE.COM 

Keith Higgins 
Traffic Engineer 
 

March 5, 2018 

Christopher Wright 

150 Greystone Court 

Santa Cruz, CA 95062 

 

Re: 2205 Wharf Road Residential Driveway Operations Evaluation, Capitola, California 

Dear Christopher: 

As you requested, this is an analysis to confirm that acceptable traffic operations will occur at the existing 

driveway intersection serving 2205 Wharf Road in Capitola, California with the addition of a third home on the 

existing driveway. 

The scope of work includes the following tasks. 

1. The City of Capitola was contacted to determine the specific traffic operations issues that they want to 

be addressed. 

2. Sight distance at the driveway was reviewed. 

3. The project site was visited to observe traffic operations and to physically perform left and right turns 

into and out of the driveway to verify the adequacy of the existing driveway configuration. 

 

A. Existing Conditions 

Wharf Road has an uphill grade in the southerly direction of about 3.5%.  The speed limit on Wharf Road is 25 

miles per hour.  Bike lanes are provided in both directions.  A sidewalk is provided along the east side of the 

road.  A painted crosswalk with flashing warning signs and in-pavement lighting that is activated by pedestrian 

push buttons is provided about 300 feet to the south.  The existing horizontal curve can accommodate a travel 

speed of about 30 miles per hour.   

The driveway serving 2205 Wharf Road is located on the west side of Wharf Road approximately one-fourth 

mile north of Clares Avenue.  The driveway currently serves a single-family residence and a triplex.   

The driveway alignment generally is at about a 10-degree angle with Wharf Road.  It intersects Wharf Road 

tangentially on the outside of a 275-foot horizontal curve.  This is a non-standard condition.  By comparison, 

virtually every federal, state and local roadway design guideline recommends streets and driveways to intersect 

at as close to a 90- degree angle as possible.  The steep terrain at this location along Wharf Road precludes 

providing a more perpendicular angle than what is provided.  Other driveways along Wharf Road have similar 

configurations.   

5.C.8

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 L

in
e 

o
f 

S
ig

h
t 

an
d

 S
af

et
y 

A
n

al
ys

is
  (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)

mailto:keith@keithhigginste.com


2205 Wharf Road 
March 5, 2018 

 

2 

The driveway has an uphill grade in the southerly direction of about 16% between Wharf Road and the existing 

residences.  This steepness is considered by most public agencies to be acceptable.  The vertical curvature 

also appears acceptable.   

There apparently is no accident history associated with this driveway, although it has served the two residences 

for at least 50 years.  According to the City of Capitola Public Works Department, the neighbor who shares this 

driveway has indicated there have been near misses. 

There is also an on-site intersection of the main driveway with the driveway serving the next-door neighbor.  

Sight distance is limited at this on-site location by an existing fence along the property line separating the two 

properties.  A 2-foot diameter convex mirror has been placed to assist the next-door neighbor to better observe 

vehicles exiting 2205 Wharf Road.  The driveway has very low travel speeds (10 miles per hour or less).  The 

location is on private property, which reduces the possibility of theft, graffiti, vandalism or other interference with 

the mirror function.  It is therefore a reasonable means of remediation of the sight distance limitation.        

B. Existing Driveway Sight Distance 

Sight distance to the north from the driveway is unimpeded and is at least 400 feet along a straight section of 

Wharf Road.  This can accommodate over 45 miles per hour.  There is no sight distance deficiency to the north.   

Sight distance to the south is about 252 feet.  It is limited by the 275-foot radius horizontal curve.  The provided 

sight distance accommodates travel speeds of about 35 miles per hour.  This is greater than the comfortable 

travel speed around the curve of 30 miles per hour.  Sight distance from the driveway is therefore adequate.   

Sight distance between northbound vehicles waiting to turn left into the driveway and northbound vehicles 

approaching from behind is about 220 feet, which accommodates travel speeds of 32 miles per hour.  This is 

marginally adequate for northbound traffic to observe vehicles stopped in the northbound travel lane. 

Sight distance is therefore adequate for the existing driveway. 

C. Existing Driveway Geometrics 

Vehicles entering and exiting the driveway from and to the north have no difficulty.  The severe skew facilitates 

these movements.   

The severe skew of the existing driveway limits the ability of northbound left turn vehicles to enter the site.  

However, the width from the face of the existing wooden retaining wall along the west edge of the driveway to 

the edge of the edge of the Wharf Road pavement is about 46 feet. This will accommodate nearly all passenger 

cars and most pickup trucks without having to make a backup maneuver.  This is marginally adequate.  

Right turning vehicles exiting the driveway to head south on Wharf Road cannot complete the turn without using 

the entire northbound Wharf Road travel lane.  Vehicles must enter Wharf Road up to the centerline stripe, then 

proceed to complete a three-point turn similar to a U-turn movement in order to continue southbound on Wharf 

Road.  The mitigating factor for this movement is that sight distance is marginally adequate for exiting vehicles 

5.C.8

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 L

in
e 

o
f 

S
ig

h
t 

an
d

 S
af

et
y 

A
n

al
ys

is
  (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



2205 Wharf Road 
March 5, 2018 

 

3 

to identify gaps in the 30-mile-per-hour northbound traffic to enter the northbound travel lane.  Nevertheless, this 

movement is undesirable and should be limited and preferably eliminated.  

D. Impact of Proposed Home 

 

The addition of a new home will not qualitatively change the traffic operations at the existing driveway.  The 

elements of the driveway design including its standard features will not decline to a deficient condition.  The 

non-standard feature, which is associated with the inability to make a right turn exit movement from the driveway 

onto southbound Wharf Road is already deficient.  Its deficiency is unrelated to the addition of traffic from a 

single home.  

  

E. Recommendations 

The topography precludes widening or realigning the driveway approach at Wharf Road to be more standard.  

Therefore, a driveway realignment is not possible.  Alternatively, the following improvements are recommended. 

1. Install a “No Right Turn” (Caltrans Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (CAMUTCD) Standard 

R3-1) sign on the driveway to prohibit right turn exits.  The exact placement should be determined in 

consultation with the Capitola Public Works Department. 

2. Replace the existing two-foot diameter convex mirror with a three-foot diameter convex mirror. 

If you have any questions regarding the contents of this proposal or need additional information, please do not 

hesitate to contact me at your convenience.  Thank you for the opportunity to assist you with this project. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Keith B. Higgins, PE, TE 

5.C.8

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

20
5 

W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
 L

in
e 

o
f 

S
ig

h
t 

an
d

 S
af

et
y 

A
n

al
ys

is
  (

22
05

 W
h

ar
f 

R
o

ad
)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: MAY 3, 2018 
 
SUBJECT: Retail Marijuana Sales in Regional Commercial Zoning District   
 

Future amendment to the Capitola Zoning Code (Municipal Code Chapter 17) to 
allow retail cannabis sales within the Regional Commercial Zoning District with a 
Conditional Use Permit.  
The Regional Commercial Zoning District is outside the Coastal Zone and 
therefore is not subject to Local Coastal Program Certification by the Coastal 
Commission. 
Environmental Determination: Exempt 
Property: All property within the Regional Commercial Zone within the City of 
Capitola 
Representative: Katie Herlihy, Community Development Director, City of Capitola 

 
BACKGROUND 
The City Council adopted Urgency Ordinance No. 989 on January 9, 2014, to prohibit 

commercial cultivation and processing of medical marijuana within the City of Capitola. In 2016, 

California voters approved Proposition 64 which decriminalized the possession, use, and sale of 

recreational marijuana for adults 21 or older and authorized the recreational sale of marijuana 

beginning on January 1, 2018. 

On March 9, 2017, the City Council held a public hearing to consider the 2014 ordinance in light 

of Proposition 64. Citing concerns with the lack of state regulations and guidance on commercial 

marijuana activities, the Council ultimately adopted an amended ordinance to ban all 

commercial marijuana uses, except for laboratory testing facilities. The City Council also 

directed staff to schedule a review of the ordinance once state regulations were adopted for 

commercial marijuana activities. 

The City Council reviewed the ordinance on February 8, 2018, and expressed support to retain 
current prohibitions on manufacturing, cultivation, and recreational delivery services. The 
Council also directed staff to return with additional information and recommendations to allow 
limited retail sales exclusively in the Regional Commercial zoning district. 
 
On April 12, 2018, the City Council directed staff to move forward with drafting amended 

ordinances for retail cannabis sales within the Regional Commercial zoning district.  The 

ordinance will be contingent on a ballot initiative for a local cannabis tax. Staff will work with the 

City Attorney to craft the ordinances so they would only go into effect if a ballot measure passed 

in November 2018.  

6.1

Packet Pg. 106



 
 

 

 
DISCUSSION 
To allow retail marijuana sales in the City, the recently adopted zoning code must be amended 

to establish retail marijuana sales as a conditionally allowed use type and to include appropriate 

conditions and performance standards to minimize land use conflicts. Based on previous 

Council direction and a review of best practices applied by other California agencies, staff 

recommends the following zoning parameters for retail marijuana sales establishments: 

• Limit uses to the CR (Regional Commercial) zoning district, which is an approximately 

2,800-foot long area along 41st Avenue between Capitola Road and Highway 1. 

• Establish a 1,000-foot minimum path of travel (buffer) distance between schools and 

churches, and a minimum 500-foot buffer distance between retailers. 

• Require retailers to be in a location with independent access. A permit would not be 

issued for a location that shares an entryway with another business.  

• Require retailers to obtain a revocable Conditional Use Permit and maintain a current 

Cannabis Retailing permit, as outlined below. 

Cannabis Retailing Permit 
In conjunction with the conditional use permit, staff also recommends the establishment of a 
new municipal code section that requires a separate Cannabis Retailing Permit maintained by 
the Police Department. The regulations for a Cannabis Retailing Permit would be outside the 
zoning code; therefore, the permit ordinance is not under the purview of the Planning 
Commission.  Such permits would require renewal on a periodic basis, and incorporate best-
practice physical security and retailing measures. In addition, the ordinance would: 

• Allow a maximum of one, two, or three Cannabis Retailing Permits. 

• Establish a competitive, merit-based permit issuance system that accounts for legal 
cannabis retail experience, civil and criminal records, operations and security plans, and 
residency. The Council may also include criteria to promote minority- or woman-owned 
businesses, employee wages/benefits, or other factors. 

• Permits would not be transferable to other business operators and would not run with the 
property. 

• Require operators to undergo periodic review by the Police and Community 
Development Departments. If the retailer has serious or multiple violations, the Police 
Chief and/or Community Development Director may suspend or revoke the Cannabis 
Retailing Permit. 

• Prohibit specific products that are attractive to children or youth and products with 
packaging or labeling that is attractive to children or youth. 

• Incorporate and require compliance with conditional use permit requirements. 
 
Process 
On June 7, 2018, staff will bring a draft ordinance to Planning Commission for recommendation 

to City Council.  The draft ordinance will amend the CR zoning district to add retail cannabis 

sales to the land use table with the requirement of a conditional use permit and add specific 

standards for separation, buffers, independent access, and a valid cannabis retail permit. Upon 

recommendation by the Planning Commission, the City Council will begin review of the zoning 

ordinance, as well as amendments to Municipal Code Chapter 9.61 (Marijuana Sales, 

Processing and Cultivation); a new chapter for Cannabis Retail License; a tax ordinance, and an 

amendment to the fee schedule.   

The first reading of the retail cannabis ordinance must occur by the June 28th City Council 

6.1

Packet Pg. 107



 
 

 

meeting to meet the ballot measure deadline.  The ordinance will be contingent on a ballot 

initiative for a local cannabis tax. The ordinance will be crafted so retail cannabis sales would 

only go into effect if a ballot measure is passed by Capitola residents in November 2018.  

 
CEQA 
This project is categorically exempt under Section 15061 of the California Environmental Quality 
Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations. The 
proposed project involves retail sales of cannabis in an existing regional commercial zoning 
district. The activity is covered by the general rule that CEQA applies only to projects, which 
have the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment.  Where it can be seen with 
certainty that there is no possibility that the activity in question may have a significant effect on 
the environment, the activity is not subject to CEQA.  No possible adverse environmental 
impacts were discovered during ordinance review by Planning Staff as the retail use will occur in 
a zone where retail use has been principally permitted.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission accept the presentation and provide feedback 
on zoning parameters for future retail marijuana sales.  
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
 
 
FINDINGS 
 
 
Prepared By: Katie Herlihy 
  Senior Planner 

6.1

Packet Pg. 108


	Agenda Packet
	1. Roll Call and Pledge of Allegiance
	2. Oral Communications
	A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda
	B. Public Comments
	C. Commission Comments
	D. Staff Comments

	3. Approval of Minutes
	1. Minutes of Apr 5, 2018 7:00 PM
	Printout: Minutes of Apr 5, 2018 7:00 PM


	4. Consent Calendar
	A. 110 Capitola Avenue Suite 1
	Printout: 110 Capitola Avenue Suite 1
	1. 110 Capitola Avenue Sign Plan
	2. 110 Capitola Ave - Multi Tenant Street View


	5. Public Hearings
	A. 1350 49th Avenue
	Printout: 1350 49th Avenue
	1. Full Plan Set - 1350 49th Ave
	2. Materials Board - 1350 49th Ave

	B. 318 Riverview Avenue
	Printout: 318 Riverview Avenue
	1. 318 Riverview Avenue - Full Plan Set
	2. Riverview Avenue Parking Analysis
	3. Conditions and Findings for Approval

	C. 2205 Wharf Road
	Printout: 2205 Wharf Road
	1. 2205 Wharf Road Plans
	2. Parcel A Triplex Development Standards of RM-L
	3. 2205 Wharf Road Tentative Map.
	4. 2205 Wharf Access Easement
	5. 2205 Wharf Soquel Creek Water District Will serve letter
	6. SCC Sanitation District Letter
	7. Loma Vista Response letter
	8. 2205 Wharf Road Line of Sight and Safety Analysis


	6. Director's Report
	1. Retail Marijuana Sales in Regional Commercial Zoning District
	Printout: Retail Marijuana Sales in Regional Commercial Zoning District


	7. Commission Communications
	8. Adjournment

	Appendix
	3.1 · Minutes of Apr 5, 2018 7:00 PM
	4.A · 110 Capitola Avenue Suite 1
	4.A.1 · 110 Capitola Avenue Sign Plan
	4.A.2 · 110 Capitola Ave - Multi Tenant Street View

	5.A · 1350 49th Avenue
	5.A.1 · Full Plan Set - 1350 49th Ave
	5.A.2 · Materials Board - 1350 49th Ave

	5.B · 318 Riverview Avenue
	5.B.1 · 318 Riverview Avenue - Full Plan Set
	5.B.2 · Riverview Avenue Parking Analysis
	5.B.3 · Conditions and Findings for Approval

	5.C · 2205 Wharf Road
	5.C.1 · 2205 Wharf Road Plans
	5.C.2 · Parcel A Triplex Development Standards of RM-L
	5.C.3 · 2205 Wharf Road Tentative Map.
	5.C.4 · 2205 Wharf Access Easement
	5.C.5 · 2205 Wharf Soquel Creek Water District Will serve letter
	5.C.6 · SCC Sanitation District Letter
	5.C.7 · Loma Vista Response letter
	5.C.8 · 2205 Wharf Road Line of Sight and Safety Analysis

	6.1 · Retail Marijuana Sales in Regional Commercial Zoning District


